A General Existence Theorem for Embedded Minimal Surfaces with Free Boundary

MARTIN MAN-CHUN LI Stanford University

Abstract

In this paper, we prove a general existence theorem for properly embedded minimal surfaces with free boundary in any compact Riemannian 3-manifold M with boundary ∂M . These minimal surfaces are either disjoint from ∂M or meet ∂M orthogonally. The main feature of our result is that there is no assumptions on the curvature of M or convexity of ∂M . We prove the boundary regularity of the minimal surfaces at their free boundaries. Furthermore, we define a topological invariant, the *filling genus*, for compact 3-manifolds with boundary and show that we can bound the genus of the minimal surface constructed above in terms of the filling genus of the ambient manifold M. Our proof employs a variant of the min-max construction used by Colding and De Lellis on closed embedded minimal surfaces, which were first developed by Almgren and Pitts. © 2015 Wiley Periodicals, Inc.

Contents

1.	Background and Motivation	288
2.	An Example	291
3.	Definitions and Preliminaries	292
4.	The Min-Max Construction	298
5.	Existence of Freely Stationary Varifolds	302
6.	Existence of Outer Almost Minimizing Varifolds	304
7.	A Minimization Problem with Partially Free Boundary	306
8.	Regularity of Outer Almost Minimizing Varifolds	319
9.	Genus Bound	324
App	pendix A. Proof of Lemma 3.1	325
Appendix B. The Perturbation Lemma		326
Bibliography		330

Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. LXVIII, 0286–0332 (2015) © 2015 Wiley Periodicals, Inc.

1 Background and Motivation

In this paper, we study a general existence problem for embedded minimal surfaces with free boundary. All manifolds (with or without boundary) are assumed to be smooth up to the boundary unless otherwise stated.

Question 1. Given a compact Riemannian 3-manifold (M^3, g) with boundary ∂M , does there exist a *properly embedded* minimal surface $\Sigma \subset M$ with boundary $\partial \Sigma \subset \partial M$ such that Σ meets ∂M orthogonally along $\partial \Sigma$?

Recall that a surface $\Sigma \subset M$ (with or without boundary) is said to be *properly embedded* if the inclusion map $i : \Sigma \to M$ is a proper embedding (i.e., a one-to-one immersion). In other words, we require

- (i) $\Sigma \cap \partial M = \partial \Sigma$, and
- (ii) Σ is transversal to ∂M at any point on $\partial \Sigma$.

Note that if $\partial \Sigma = \emptyset$, this is equivalent to saying that Σ is contained in the interior of M.

The orthogonality condition along the boundary $\partial \Sigma$ is a natural condition arising variationally. Let $\Sigma \subset M$ be a properly embedded surface with boundary $\partial \Sigma \subset \partial M$. Suppose we have a smooth family of properly embedded surfaces $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t \in (-\epsilon,\epsilon)}$ in M for some $\epsilon > 0$ with $\Sigma_0 = \Sigma$. If we calculate how the area of this family of surfaces, denoted by Area(Σ_t), changes with respect to t at t = 0, a standard computation (for example, see [34, 36]) gives the first variation formula

(1.1)
$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0}\operatorname{Area}(\Sigma_t) = -\int_{\Sigma} \langle H, X \rangle da + \int_{\partial \Sigma} \langle X, \nu \rangle ds,$$

where \langle , \rangle is the metric of the ambient manifold M, ν is the outer conormal vector of $\partial \Sigma$ in Σ (i.e., the outward unit normal of $\partial \Sigma$ tangent to Σ), H is the mean curvature vector of Σ in M (with the sign convention that H points inward for the unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^3), and X is the variation field associated with the oneparameter family $\{\Sigma_t\}$ (i.e., $X(x) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}|_{t=0}F_t(x)$ where $F = F_t(x) = F(t,x)$: $(-\epsilon, \epsilon) \times \Sigma \to M$ is a one-parameter family of proper embeddings such that $F_t(\Sigma) = \Sigma_t$). Note that since $\partial \Sigma_t \subset \partial M$ for all t, the variation field X is tangential to ∂M along $\partial \Sigma$. From (1.1), Σ is a critical point to the variational problem if and only if Σ is minimal (i.e., $H \equiv 0$) and Σ meets ∂M orthogonally along $\partial \Sigma$ (i.e., $\nu \perp \partial M$). In this case, we say that Σ is a *free boundary solution*.

The study of free boundary problems for minimal surfaces was initiated by R. Courant in [7] and H. Lewy in [21] in the 1940s. In the next few decades, these minimal surfaces with free boundaries were studied extensively by K. Goldhorn, S. Hildebrandt, W. Jäger, and J. Nitsche (see, for example, [13,16–18,27,28]), and later by J. Taylor [39], W. Meeks and S.T. Yau [25], and R. Ye [41], among many others. In their approaches, they applied the direct method in the calculus of variations to the Dirichlet energy functional and established the existence of minimizers with boundary lying on a given supporting surface. Boundary regularity

results were obtained in a variety of settings. Interested readers are encouraged to consult the recent treatise [9, 10] on boundary value problems of minimal surfaces.

However, this approach cannot be used directly to answer Question 1. The main reason is that these existence theorems only produce area minimizers; they do not yield the existence of stationary minimal surfaces that are not area minimizing. It is not hard to see that for certain supporting surfaces, there are no nontrivial minimizers. For example, it does not furnish the existence of nontrivial stationary minimal surfaces within the region bounded by a closed convex surface in \mathbb{R}^3 . Therefore, the direct method does not work unless the ambient space has some nontrivial topology.

To deal with the difficulty above, we need to construct unstable critical points to the area (or energy) functional. Along this direction, M. Struwe [38] and A. Fraser [11] applied the celebrated perturbed α -energy of Sacks and Uhlenbeck [32] to the free boundary problem for minimal disks. They were able to produce nontrivial free boundary solutions with controlled Morse index using Ljusternik-Schnirelman theory. For instance, A. Fraser proved that (see theorem 1 in [11]) if M is a smooth compact domain of a complete, homogeneously regular Riemannian 3-manifold \widetilde{M} , and the relative homotopy group $\pi_k(\widetilde{M}, \partial M) \neq 0$ for some $k \geq 2$, then either there exists a nonconstant minimal disk D in \widetilde{M} meeting ∂M orthogonally along ∂D , or there exists a nonconstant minimal 2-sphere in \widetilde{M} . Moreover, the Morse index of such a minimal surface is at most k - 2.

Despite these positive results in the existence theory, it is yet not enough to settle Question 1 in complete generality due to the following reasons. First, the minimal disk or sphere may not be embedded (in fact, it may not even be immersed). Second, and more importantly, the free boundary solution may not be contained in the compact region M. The construction does not prevent the minimal surface from penetrating ∂M in an unphysical way, and it is impossible to make it contained in M without imposing (mean) convexity assumptions on ∂M (see [12, 25, 26]). This approach does not work in the nonconvex situation because one does not expect M to contain a disk-type free boundary solution.

For example, the annular region $M = B_2 \setminus B_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, where B_r denotes the ball of radius r > 0 centered at the origin, does not contain any properly embedded minimal disk D with free boundary on ∂M . If such a minimal disk D were to exist, the boundary circle ∂D lies on one of the boundary spheres ∂B_1 or ∂B_2 . It cannot lie on ∂B_1 by the convex hull property (see proposition 1.9 in [6]). Therefore, $\partial D \subset \partial B_2$, and hence D is a free boundary solution to the ball B_2 . A uniqueness theorem of J. Nitsche [29] implies that D must be a totally geodesic equatorial disk, which has nonempty intersection with the unit ball B_1 , contradicting the hypothesis that $D \subset B_2 \setminus B_1$. On the other hand, the restriction of the equatorial disk to $B_2 \setminus B_1$ gives an example of a free boundary solution that is topologically an annulus (genus 0 with two boundary components).

288

There is a completely different approach, using geometric measure theory, which has been very successful in constructing embedded minimal surfaces. By minimizing among all embedded disks with prescribed boundary, F. Almgren and L. Simon [3] showed that any *extremal curve* Γ in \mathbb{R}^3 —i.e., Γ is contained in the boundary of a strictly convex domain $A \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ —bounds an embedded minimal disk contained in A. Based on Almgren and Simon's paper, W.-Meeks, L.-Simon and S.T.-Yau [24] proved, under suitable hypotheses, the existence of an embedded minimal surface that minimizes area in its isotopy class in a Riemannian 3manifold. This result has profound applications in 3-manifold topology.

In a remarkable work of F. Almgren [2] and J. Pitts [30], a minimax argument was used to prove that any closed Riemannian 3-manifold contains a smooth, embedded, closed minimal surface. The proof of interior regularity for such minimal surfaces was based on Schoen, Simon, and Yau's curvature estimates for stable minimal surfaces [35]. Using a clever curve-lifting argument, L. Simon and F. Smith [37] were able to control the topology of the minimal surface. As a corollary, they proved that there exists an embedded minimal 2-sphere in the 3-sphere with arbitrary Riemannian metric.

Adapting these ideas to the free boundary case, M. Grüter and J. Jost [15] proved the existence of an embedded minimal disk as a free boundary solution in any bounded, strictly convex domain in \mathbb{R}^3 . In another paper [20], J. Jost claimed similar results hold under weaker convexity assumptions on the boundary. Unfortunately, the author was unable to verify some of the arguments in the paper. On the other hand, a partially free boundary problem was also studied by J. Jost in [19]. All of these results depend on certain curvature assumptions on the boundary of the ambient manifold.

In this paper, we settle Question 1 in complete generality, without any curvature assumptions on M or ∂M .

THEOREM 1.1. For any compact Riemannian 3-manifold (M^3, g) with boundary ∂M , at least one of the following holds:

- (i) there exists a properly embedded minimal surface Σ ⊂ M with boundary ∂Σ ⊂ ∂M such that Σ meets ∂M orthogonally along ∂Σ;
- (ii) there is a closed, embedded minimal surface Σ contained in the interior of M.

Moreover, if M is assumed to be smooth up to the boundary, then the minimal surface Σ is smooth (up to the boundary in case (i)).

The proof of Theorem 1.1 employs a minimax construction similar to the one by F. Almgren [2] and J. Pitts [30]. Recently T. Colding and C. De Lellis [5] wrote a detailed account of the minimax construction, and they were able to simplify some of the proofs significantly. In another recent paper [8], C. De Lellis and F. Pellandini obtained a genus bound for minimal surfaces constructed by the minimax method in [5]. (Their bound is slightly weaker than the one conjectured by J. Pitts

and H. Rubinstein [31].) We observe that their result can be used to control the topology of the free boundary solution constructed in Theorem 1.1.

THEOREM 1.2. Let (M^3, g) be a Riemannian 3-manifold with boundary. Suppose the filling genus (see Definition 9.3) of M is equal to h. Then the minimal surface Σ in Theorem 1.1 can be chosen such that

- (i) if Σ is orientable, then genus(Σ) $\leq h$;
- (ii) if Σ is nonorientable, then genus(Σ) $\leq 2h + 1$.

It is clear from the definition that the filling genus of any compact domain in \mathbb{R}^3 is 0. As a consequence, we have the following corollary (note that there is no closed minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^3):

COROLLARY 1.3. For any compact domain $M \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, there exists a properly embedded minimal surface $\Sigma \subset M$ with nonempty free boundary $\partial \Sigma \subset \partial M$ such that either

(i) Σ is orientable with genus 0 (i.e., a disk with holes), or

(ii) Σ is a nonorientable surface with genus 1 (i.e., a Möbius strip with holes).

In case M is diffeomorphic to the unit 3-ball, case (ii) does not happen and Σ must be orientable.

The outline of this paper is as follows. In Section 2, we describe an example that illustrates why the proof in [5] does not directly generalize to cover the free boundary problem. This example also serves as a model case that motivates many of the technical arguments in this paper. Sections 3 to 8 comprise of the proof of our main result, Theorem 1.1. In Section 3, we give some definitions and preliminary results. Moreover, we define two important concepts: *freely stationary* and *outer almost minimizing property*, which will play important roles in this paper. In Section 4, we describe the min-max construction and give an outline of the proof of Theorem 1.1. In Sections 5 and 6, we establish the existence of varifolds that are both freely stationary and outer almost minimizing. In Section 7, we study a minimization problem with partially free boundary, which is then used in Section 8 to prove the boundary regularity of freely stationary varifolds satisfying the outer almost minimizing property. In Section 9, the genus bound in Theorem 1.2 is proved using the result in [8].

2 An Example

In this section, we discuss the main difficulties in the proof of Theorem 1.1. We also give an example that illustrates the need for some technical arguments in this paper.

Our proof of Theorem 1.1 is a modified version of the minimax construction described in [5]. Let us first briefly recall the minimax construction for closed (i.e., compact without boundary) manifolds. Consider the standard 3-sphere S^3 (with the round metric, for example) and a continuous sweepout $\Gamma = {\Sigma_t}_{t \in [0,1]}$ by 2-spheres that degenerate to a point at t = 0 and 1. Our goal is to minimize the area

of the maximal slice by deforming the sweepout using ambient isotopies (which could depend continuously on t).

Suppose a minimizing sweepout exists; we expect a maximal slice in this sweepout to be a minimal surface (see figure 2 in [5]). In practice, the minimum may not be achieved by any sweepout. Therefore, we have to take a minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_n$ of sweepouts, and a min-max sequence of surfaces $\{\Sigma_{t_n}^n\}_n$ which, after passing to a subsequence, converges in some weak sense (as varifolds) to an embedded minimal surface (possibly with multiplicity). There are two important points in this construction. First, we need to ensure that almost maximal slices are almost stationary [5, fig. 4]). This can be achieved by a "tightening" process [5, sec. 4]. Second, we want to choose our min-max sequence carefully so that it satisfies the *almost minimizing property*, which enables us to prove regularity for the limiting surface [5, secs. 5–7].

A natural attempt to generalize the above method to the free boundary problem is to sweep out the compact manifold M by surfaces with boundary lying on ∂M , and we use isotopies that preserve M, but not necessarily pointwise fixing points on ∂M , to deform our sweepouts. Then we carry out the same minimax construction as before and hope that a min-max sequence would converge to an embedded minimal surface with free boundary on ∂M . In fact, the limit would be stationary with respect to isotopies preserving M. Unfortunately, this is insufficient to conclude that the limit is a smooth free boundary solution. The main difficulty is that it may not be properly embedded if we do not have any convexity assumptions on the boundary ∂M . Unlike many constructions of minimal surfaces, we do not have barriers to prevent the interior of our minimal surface from touching the boundary. Let us further illustrate this point by the following example.

Let $B_r(a) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ be the closed euclidean 3-ball of radius r centered at a. Suppose $M = B_1(0, 0, 0) \setminus B_{1/4}(0, 0, \frac{1}{4})$. Consider the equatorial disk $\Sigma = M \cap \{x_3 = 0\}$; it is minimal and has free boundary on the outer boundary. However, this is not a legitimate free boundary solution because it is not properly embedded. The origin, which lies in the interior of the equatorial disk, is a point on the inner boundary of M. This happens since the inner boundary is not mean convex with respect to the inner unit normal (with respect to M). Nevertheless, the equatorial disk is a critical point of the area functional with respect to all variations preserving M. Not only is it stationary, but it is also ϵ -almost minimizing (see [5, def. 3.2]) on any sufficiently small ball for all $\epsilon > 0$ with respect to these variations. This example shows that a smooth minimal surface that is stationary and almost minimizing with respect to the isotopies preserving M may fail to be properly embedded, and hence need not be a free boundary solution (Figure 2.1). In the next section, we will discuss how to get around this problem.

3 Definitions and Preliminaries

Let (M^3, g) be a compact Riemannian 3-manifold with nonempty boundary $\partial M \neq \phi$. Suppose M is connected (but ∂M is not necessary connected; i.e., M



FIGURE 2.1. An example of a smooth minimal surface that is stationary and almost minimizing with respect to isotopies preserving M, but not properly embedded.

could have multiple boundary components). Without loss of generality, we assume that M is isometrically embedded as a compact subset of a closed Riemannian 3-manifold $\tilde{M}^{3,1}$ All surfaces, with or without boundary, are smoothly embedded in \tilde{M} unless otherwise stated. We will use $int(M) = M \setminus \partial M$ to denote the interior of M.

3.1 Isotopies and Vector Fields

We now describe the class of ambient isotopies in \tilde{M} used in deforming our surfaces. An *isotopy on* \tilde{M} is a smooth one-parameter family $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]}$ of diffeomorphisms of \tilde{M} where φ_0 is the identity map of \tilde{M} . (The smoothness assumption here means that the map $\varphi(s, x) = \varphi_s(x) : [0, 1] \times \tilde{M} \to \tilde{M}$ is smooth.) Let $\Im \mathfrak{s}$ denote the space of all isotopies on \tilde{M} . Moreover, we say that an isotopy $\{\varphi_s\} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}$ is *supported in an open set* $U \subset \tilde{M}$ if $\varphi_s(x) = x$ for every $s \in [0, 1]$ and $x \in \tilde{M} \setminus U$. Define

$$\Im\mathfrak{s}_{out} = \{\{\varphi_s\} \in \Im\mathfrak{s} : M \subset \varphi_s(M) \text{ for all } s \in [0, 1]\}$$

to be the *isotopies in* \widetilde{M} *that can move points out of the compact set* $M \subset \widetilde{M}$ *but not into* M, and $\Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U)$ to be those in $\Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}$ that are supported in some open set $U \subset \widetilde{M}$. Furthermore, we are also interested in situations where the compact set M is preserved by the isotopy, Similarly, we define

$$\Im\mathfrak{s}_{\tan} = \{\{\varphi_s\} \in \Im\mathfrak{s} : M = \varphi_s(M) \text{ for all } s \in [0, 1]\}.$$

¹ Note that such an isometric embedding always exists. For example, we can smoothly extend M with the metric across the boundary ∂M to get a collar neighborhood that can be made cylindrical near the boundary by a cutoff function; then we take another copy of this collar neighborhood and glue the two together along the cylindrical necks.

to be the isotopies preserving the compact set M, and $\Im \mathfrak{s}_{tan}(U)$ to be those in $\Im \mathfrak{s}_{tan}$ supported in some open set $U \subset \tilde{M}$. Notice that $\Im \mathfrak{s}_{tan}(U) \subset \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U)$ for any open set $U \subset \tilde{M}$.

One way to generate isotopies is to consider the flow of a vector field. Let χ be the vector space of smooth vector fields on \tilde{M} . We define two subspaces χ_{out} and χ_{tan} of χ that correspond to the two classes of isotopies defined above. More precisely, we let

$$\chi_{\text{out}} = \{ X \in \chi : X(x) \cdot \nu(x) \ge 0 \text{ for every } x \in \partial M \}$$

where ν is the unit outward normal of ∂M with respect to M and

$$\chi_{\tan} = \{ X \in \chi : X(x) \cdot \nu(x) = 0 \text{ for every } x \in \partial M \}.$$

Notice again that $\chi_{tan} \subset \chi_{out}$. Each $X \in \chi$ generates a unique isotopy $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]}$ on \widetilde{M} by its flow (since \widetilde{M} is closed, the flow exists for all time). Clearly, if $X \in \chi_{out}$, then $\{\varphi_s\} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}$; if $X \in \chi_{tan}$, then $\{\varphi_s\} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}_{tan}$.

3.2 Varifolds and Restrictions

Varifolds are fundamental in any min-max construction, compared to other generalized surfaces like currents, because they do not allow for cancellation of mass (see [30, p. 24]). We will discuss some less standard facts about varifolds. For a more comprehensive treatment, one can refer to [1, 5, 23, 36].

Let $\mathcal{V}(M)$ denote the space of 2-varifolds on \tilde{M} endowed with the weak topology (see [36]), and $\mathcal{V}(M) \subset \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$ be the subspace of 2-varifolds supported in M. There is a restriction map

$$(\cdot)_{\sqcup M} : \mathcal{V}(\widetilde{M}) \to \mathcal{V}(M) \subset \mathcal{V}(\widetilde{M})$$

defined by $V_{\sqcup M}(B) = V(B \cap G(M))$ for any $B \subset G(\tilde{M})$, where G(M) and $G(\tilde{M})$ denote the 2-Grassmannian over M and \tilde{M} , respectively. Since M is compact, by 2.6.2 (c) in [1], the restriction map is only upper semicontinuous in the weak topology in the following sense: if V_i is a sequence in $\mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$ converging weakly to V, then $\limsup_{i\to\infty} \|V_i\|(M) \leq \|V\|(M)$. The following lemma shows that if we have equality $\lim_{i\to\infty} \|V_i\|(M) = \|V\|(M)$, then $V_{i\sqcup M}$ converges weakly to $V_{\sqcup}M$.

LEMMA 3.1. Let $V \in \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$. Suppose $V_i \in \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$ is a sequence of varifolds converging weakly to V as $i \to \infty$. If the masses $||V_i||(M)$ converge to ||V||(M) as $i \to \infty$, then the restricted varifolds $V_{i \sqcup M}$ converge weakly to $V \sqcup_M$ as $i \to \infty$.

The proof of Lemma 3.1 is rather elementary and will be given in Appendix A for the sake of completeness.

3.3 Freely Stationary Varifolds

Let $V \in \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$. If we take a vector field $X \in \chi_{tan}$ and let $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in (-\epsilon,\epsilon)}$ be the flow generated by X and $(\varphi_s)_{\sharp}V$ be the push-forward of V by φ_s , then

 $\|(\varphi_s)_{\sharp}V\|(M)$ is a smooth function in *s* since $\varphi_s(M) = M$ for all *s*. Differentiating with respect to *s* at s = 0, the same calculation as that in the standard first variation formula (see [36] for example) shows that

M. LI

(3.1)
$$\delta_M V(X) = \frac{d}{ds} \Big|_{s=0} \|(\varphi_s)_{\sharp} V\|(M) = \int_{(x,S)\in G(M)} \operatorname{div}_S X(x) \, dV(x,S).$$

Notice that we are only integrating over G(M) instead of $G(\tilde{M})$ on the right-hand side of (3.1) since we are only counting area in M.

DEFINITION 3.2. A varifold $V \in \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$ is said to be *freely stationary in an open* set $U \subset \tilde{M}$ if and only if $\delta_M V(X) = 0$ for all vector fields $X \in \chi_{tan}$ supported in U. If $U = \tilde{M}$, we simply say that V is *freely stationary*.

We denote the set of varifolds that are freely stationary in U by $\mathcal{V}_{\infty,U} \subset \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$ and the set of freely stationary varifolds by \mathcal{V}_{∞} .

Remark 3.3. It is obvious that $\delta_M V(X) = \delta_M V_{\perp M}(X)$ for any $V \in \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$ and $X \in \chi_{tan}$. Therefore, if $V \in \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$ is freely stationary in U, then so is $V_{\perp M}$ and vice versa. So we often assume that freely stationary varifolds are supported in M.

Using the compactness of mass bounded varifolds in the weak topology and (3.1), it is immediate that the set of mass bounded freely stationary varifolds supported in M is compact in the weak topology.

LEMMA 3.4. For any open set $U \subset \tilde{M}$ and any constant C > 0, the set

$$\mathcal{V}_{\infty,U}^{\mathcal{C}}(M) = \{ V \in \mathcal{V}_{\infty,U}(M) : \|V\|(M) \le C \}$$

is compact in the weak topology.

PROOF. Let V_i be a sequence of varifolds in $\mathcal{V}_{\infty,U}^C(M)$. Since V_i are supported in M, $||V_i||(\tilde{M}) = ||V_i||(M)$ are uniformly bounded by C. Therefore, a subsequence of V_i (after relabeling) converges weakly to V in $\mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$ by compactness of mass bounded varifolds. Since $\mathcal{V}(M)$ is a closed subset of $\mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$, the limit Vis also supported in M, i.e., $V \in \mathcal{V}(M)$. Therefore, $||V||(M) = ||V||(\tilde{M}) =$ $\lim ||V_i||(\tilde{M}) = \lim ||V_i||(M) \le C$. It remains to show that V is freely stationary in U, but this follows directly from the first variation formula (3.1) and the fact that V_i and V are supported in M.

In this paper, we will use some results in [14], where the monotonicity formula and the Allard regularity for freely stationary varifolds were proved. Their proofs were given for rectifiable varifolds in \mathbb{R}^N , but they can be easily generalized to general varifolds in Riemannian manifolds. As a result, we have the following monotonicity formula for any freely stationary varifold V in \tilde{M} : there exists a

294

constant R > 0 (depending only on the geometry of M and ∂M) and a function C(r) > 1 such that for any $x \in \partial M$ and $0 < \sigma < \rho < r < R$,

(3.2)
$$\frac{\|V\|(M \cap B_{\sigma}(x))}{\sigma^2} \le C(r) \frac{\|V\|(M \cap B_{\rho}(x))}{\rho^2}$$

Note that C(r) goes to 1 as $r \to 0$, so the density $\theta(x, V)$ of the freely stationary varifold V at $x \in \partial M$ is well-defined.

In [15], the well-known Schoen curvature estimates [33] for stable minimal surfaces were generalized to the free boundary case. The compactness theorem for stable minimal surfaces with free boundary follows easily from the curvature estimates.

LEMMA 3.5 (Grüter-Jost[14]). Let $U \subset \widetilde{M}$ be an open set. Suppose $\{\Sigma^n\}$ is a sequence of properly embedded stable minimal surfaces in $U \cap M$ with free boundary on $U \cap \partial M$, and their areas are uniformly bounded. Then, for any compact subset $K \subseteq U$, there is a subsequence of Σ^n converging smoothly (multiplicity allowed) to a properly embedded stable minimal surface Σ^{∞} in $K \cap M$ with free boundary lying on $K \cap \partial M$.

3.4 Outer Almost Minimizing Property

In general, a stationary varifold may possess singularity and hence is not a smooth minimal surface. Even if it is smooth, the example in Section 2 shows that an embedded smooth minimal surface that is freely stationary may fail to be properly embedded. In order to achieve regularity and properness of the freely stationary varifold, we require a stronger condition called the *outer almost minimizing* property. Roughly speaking, a surface that is outer almost minimizing means that if you want to decrease its area in M through an outward isotopy, its area in Mmust become large at some time during the deformation. The precise definition is given below.

DEFINITION 3.6. Given $\epsilon > 0$ and an open set $U \subset \tilde{M}$, a varifold $V \in \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$ is ϵ -outer almost minimizing in U if and only if no isotopy $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]} \in \mathfrak{Is}_{out}(U)$ exists such that

- (i) $\|(\varphi_s)_{\sharp}V\|(M) \le \|V\|(M) + \frac{\epsilon}{8}$ for all $s \in [0, 1]$ and (ii) $\|(\varphi_1)_{\sharp}V\|(M) \le \|V\|(M) \epsilon$.

A sequence $\{V^n\} \subset \mathcal{V}(\widetilde{M})$ is said to be an *outer almost minimizing sequence* in U if each V^n is ϵ_n -outer almost minimizing in U for some sequence $\epsilon_n \downarrow 0$. Moreover, if V^n converges weakly to some V in U, then we say that V is *outer* almost minimizing in U.

Remark 3.7. The definition is almost the same as the one used in [5] except that we are considering the area in M and outward isotopies only.

It is not hard to see that any outer almost minimizing varifold is freely stationary.

PROPOSITION 3.8. If V is outer almost minimizing in U, then V is freely stationary in U.

PROOF. Since V is outer almost minimizing in U, there exists, by definition, a sequence $\epsilon_n \downarrow 0$ for which V^n is ϵ_n -outer almost minimizing in U. We will prove the proposition by contradiction.

Suppose, on the contrary, that V is not freely stationary in U. Then there is a vector field $X \in \chi_{tan}$ supported in U such that

$$\delta_M V(X) \le -c < 0$$

for some real constant c > 0. Let $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in \mathbb{R}}$ be the flow generated by X. Suppose V_s and V_s^n are the push-forwards of the varifolds V and V^n , respectively, by the diffeomorphism φ_s . Since $X \in \chi_{tan}$, (3.1) implies that $\delta_M V_s(X)$ is a continuous function in s (for X fixed). Therefore, we have

$$\delta_M V_s(X) \le -\frac{c}{2} < 0$$

for all $s \in [0, s_0]$ for some $s_0 > 0$. We claim that for all sufficiently large *n*, it holds true that

$$\delta_M V_s^n(X) \le -\frac{c}{4} < 0$$

for all $s \in [0, s_0]$.

Let us assume (3.4) for the moment, integrating in *s* gives

(3.5)
$$\|V_s^n\|(M) \le \|V^n\|(M) - \frac{cs}{4}$$

for all $s \in [0, s_0]$. Since V^n is ϵ_n -outer almost minimizing in U, this implies

(3.6)
$$\|V_{s_0}^n\|(M) \ge \|V^n\|(M) - \epsilon_n$$

for all *n* sufficiently large. Combining (3.5) and (3.6), we have $\epsilon_n \ge \frac{cs_0}{4} > 0$ for *n* sufficiently large. This is a contradiction since $\epsilon_n \downarrow 0$.

It remains to verify (3.4). Let $f_n(s) = \delta_M V_s^n(X)$ and $f(s) = \delta_M V_s(X)$. From the definition of push-forward of a varifold and (3.1), $\{f_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is an equicontinuous family of functions on $[0, s_0]$. Furthermore,

(3.7)
$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} f_n(s) \le f(s)$$

for all $s \in [0, s_0]$. Our goal is to prove that for any $\epsilon > 0$, $f_n(s) \le f(s) + \epsilon$ for all n sufficiently large and all $s \in [0, s_0]$. If not, then there exists a sequence $n_k \to \infty$ and $s_k \in [0, s_0]$ such that $f_{n_k}(s_k) > f(s_k) + \epsilon$. Without loss of generality, we can assume $s_k \to s_\infty$ for some $s_\infty \in [0, s_0]$. By equicontinuity, for k sufficiently large, we have

$$f_{n_k}(s_{\infty}) + \frac{\epsilon}{2} \ge f_{n_k}(s_k) > f(s_k) + \epsilon.$$

Take $k \to \infty$; we get $\limsup_{n\to\infty} f_n(s_\infty) \ge \limsup_{k\to\infty} f_{n_k}(s_\infty) \ge f(s_\infty) + \epsilon/2$, which contradicts (3.7). Finally, (3.4) follows from (3.3) by taking $\epsilon = c/4$.

The example in Section 2 shows that the converse of Proposition 3.8 is false (Figure 2.1). The equatorial disk shown in Figure 2.1 is freely stationary and almost minimizing with respect to isotopies preserving M, but it fails to be outer almost minimizing. By allowing more deformations, we can rule out such cases as in Figure 2.1 and obtain a properly embedded free boundary solution from a min-max construction to be described in Section 4.

4 The Min-Max Construction

In this section, we describe a min-max construction for properly embedded minimal surfaces with free boundary in any compact Riemannian 3-manifold with boundary.

4.1 Sweepouts

First, we define a generalized family of surfaces that allow mild singularities and changes in topology. We will always parametrize a sweepout by the letter t over the interval [0, 1] unless otherwise stated.

DEFINITION 4.1. A family $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t \in [0,1]}$ of surfaces in \widetilde{M} is said to be a *generalized* smooth family of surfaces, or simply a sweepout, if and only if there exists a finite subset $T \subset [0, 1]$ and a finite set of points $P \subset \widetilde{M}$ such that

- (1) for $t \notin T$, Σ_t is a smoothly embedded closed surface (not necessarily connected) in \widetilde{M} ;
- (2) for $t \in T$, $\Sigma_t \setminus P$ is a smoothly embedded surface (not necessarily connected) in \widetilde{M} and Σ_t is compact; and
- (3) Σ_t varies smoothly in t (see Remark 4.2 below).

If, in addition to (1)–(3) above,

(4) $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t \cap M)$ is a continuous function in $t \in [0, 1]$ (here \mathcal{H}^2 is the twodimensional Hausdorff measure induced by the metric on \widetilde{M}),

we say that $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t \in [0,1]}$ is a *continuous sweepout*.

Remark 4.2. The smoothness condition in (3) means the following: for each $t \notin T$, for τ close enough to t, Σ_{τ} is a graph over Σ_t (hence diffeomorphic to Σ_t) and Σ_{τ} converges smoothly to Σ_t as a graph when $\tau \to t$. At $t \in T$, for any $\epsilon > 0$ small, let $P_{\epsilon} = \{x \in \tilde{M} : d(x, P) < \epsilon\}$; then $\Sigma_{\tau} \setminus P_{\epsilon}$ converges smoothly to $\Sigma_t \setminus P_{\epsilon}$ in the graphical sense above as $\tau \to t$.

Remark 4.3. Note that condition (4) is not redundant since we could have a continuous (or even smooth) family of $\Sigma_t \subset \tilde{M}$ such that $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t \cap M)$ is discontinuous. In general, the function $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t \cap M)$ is only upper semicontinuous in t. See Figure 4.1 for an example of a discontinuous sweepout of a topological annulus by curves. Here we let M be a disk with a square removed and consider a sweepout of M by vertical lines. This example is one dimension lower, but a similar example in \mathbb{R}^3 can be constructed easily. In fact, by Lemma 3.1, condition (4) is equivalent to saying that $\{\Sigma_t \cap M\}_{t \in [0,1]}$ is a continuous family as varifolds in M.



FIGURE 4.1. A sweepout that is not continuous. (The dashed lines represent the part of the line that lies outside M whose length is not counted.)

4.2 Min-Max Sequences

Given a sweepout $\{\Sigma_t\}$, we can deform the sweepout to get another sweepout by the following procedure. Let $\psi = \psi_t(x) = \psi(t, x) : [0, 1] \times \widetilde{M} \to \widetilde{M}$ be a smooth map such that for each $t \in [0, 1]$, there exists isotopies $\{\varphi_s^t\}_{s \in [0, 1]} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}^{\text{out}}$ such that $\varphi_1^t = \psi_t$. We define a new family $\{\Sigma_t'\}$ by $\Sigma_t' = \psi_t(\Sigma_t)$. It is clear that $\{\Sigma_t'\}$ is a sweepout in the sense of Definition 4.1. A collection Λ of sweepouts is *saturated* if it is closed under these deformations of sweepouts.

Remark 4.4. For technical reasons, we will assume that any saturated collection Λ of sweepouts has the additional property that there exists some natural number $N = N(\Lambda) < \infty$ such that for any $\{\Sigma_t\} \in \Lambda$, the set *P* in Definition 4.1 consists of at most *N* points.

We will apply our min-max construction to a saturated collection of sweepouts. Given any such collection Λ and any sweepout $\{\Sigma_t\} \in \Lambda$, we denote by $\mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_t\})$ the area of its maximal slice (with respect to area in M) and by $m_0(\Lambda)$ the infimum of \mathcal{F} over all sweepouts in Λ ; that is,

$$\mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_t\}) = \sup_{t \in [0,1]} \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t \cap M) \text{ and } m_0(\Lambda) = \inf_{\{\Sigma_t\} \in \Lambda} \mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_t\}).$$

Note that we have to take "sup" in the definition of \mathcal{F} instead of "max" (as in [5]) because the maximum may not be achieved if the sweepout is not continuous.

DEFINITION 4.5. Given a saturated collection Λ of sweepouts, we have the following:

(1) We call a sequence $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of sweepouts in Λ a minimizing sequence of *sweepouts* if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_t^n\}) = m_0(\Lambda).$$

(2) Let $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a minimizing sequence of sweepouts. Suppose we have a sequence $t_n \in [0, 1]$. We say that $\{\Sigma_{t_n}^n \cap M\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a *min-max sequence* of surfaces if

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_{t_n}^n\cap M)=m_0(\Lambda).$$

Our goal is to show that there exists some min-max sequence $\sum_{t_n}^n \cap M$ converging (in the varifold sense) to a properly embedded free boundary solution Σ (possibly with multiplicities). It is clear that the area of Σ (counting multiplicities) is equal to $m_0(\Lambda)$. In order to produce something nontrivial, we need $m_0(\Lambda) > 0$. We first show by an isoperimetric inequality that this can be done by choosing an initial sweepout to be the level sets of a Morse function.

PROPOSITION 4.6. There exists a saturated collection Λ of sweepouts for which $m_0(\Lambda) > 0$.

PROOF. Take any Morse function $\tilde{f}: \tilde{M} \to [0, 1]$ on the closed 3-manifold \tilde{M} . Define $\Sigma_t = \tilde{f}^{-1}(t)$ for $t \in [0, 1]$. Then $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t \in [0, 1]}$ is a sweepout in the sense of Definition 4.1. Let Λ be the *saturation* of $\{\Sigma_t\}$, the smallest collection of sweepouts that is saturated and contains $\{\Sigma_t\}$. We will show that for such a collection Λ , we have $m_0(\Lambda) > 0$.

Let $\psi = \psi_t(x) = \psi(t, x) : [0, 1] \times \widetilde{M} \to \widetilde{M}$ be a smooth map such that for each $t \in [0, 1]$, there exists isotopies $\{\varphi_s^t\}_{s \in [0, 1]} \in \Im_{s_{out}}$ such that $\varphi_1^t = \psi_t$. Define the new sweepout $\{\Gamma_t\} \in \Lambda$ by $\Gamma_t = \psi_t(\Sigma_t)$. We claim that $\mathcal{F}(\{\Gamma_t\}) \ge C > 0$, where *C* is a constant independent of ψ . This would imply $m_0(\Lambda) \ge C > 0$.

To prove our claim, let $U_t = \tilde{f}^{-1}([0,t))$ and $U'_t = \tilde{M} \setminus U_t$, and take $V_t = \psi_t(U_t)$ and $V'_t = \psi_t(U'_t)$. The compact subset M is a disjoint union of $V_t \cap M$ and $V'_t \cap M$, with $\partial V_t \cap \operatorname{int}(M) = \partial V'_t \cap \operatorname{int}(M)$. Since the function $t \mapsto \mathcal{H}^3(V_t \cap M)$ is continuous, and $\mathcal{H}^3(V_0 \cap M) = 0$ and $\mathcal{H}^3(V_1 \cap M) = \operatorname{Vol}(M)$, there exists $t_0 \in (0, 1)$ such that $\mathcal{H}^3(V_{t_0} \cap M) = \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Vol}(M)$.

By the isoperimetric inequality, there exists a constant C = C(M) > 0 such that

$$\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Vol}(M) = \mathcal{H}^3(V_{t_0} \cap M) \le C(M)(\mathcal{H}^2(\Gamma_{t_0} \cap M))^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

Hence,

$$\mathcal{F}(\{\Gamma_t\}) = \sup_{t \in [0,1]} \mathcal{H}^2(\Gamma_t \cap M) \ge \left(\frac{\operatorname{Vol}(M)}{2 C(M)}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}} > 0$$

This proves our claim and thus the proposition.

4.3 Convergence of Min-Max Sequences

We now state the main convergence result, which implies Theorem 1.1.

THEOREM 4.7. Let M be a compact domain of a closed Riemannian 3-manifold \tilde{M} . Given any saturated collection of sweepouts Λ , there exists a min-max sequence of surfaces $\{\Sigma_{t_n}^n \cap M\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ obtained from Λ that converges in the sense of varifolds to an integer-rectifiable varifold V in M with $||V||(M) = m_0(\Lambda)$. Moreover, there exists natural numbers n_1, \ldots, n_k and smooth, compact, properly embedded minimal surfaces $\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_k$ such that

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i \Gamma_i,$$

where each Γ_i is either closed or meets ∂M orthogonally along the free boundary $\partial \Gamma_i$.

The proof of Theorem 4.7 can be divided into three parts. The first part is a tightening argument that is similar to Birkhoff's curve-shortening process [4]. The goal is to find a *good* minimizing sequence of sweepouts such that almost maximal slices are almost freely stationary. This rules out the existence of almost maximal *bad* slices (see [5, fig. 4]) that would not converge to a freely stationary varifold. The precise statement we will prove is the following:

PROPOSITION 4.8. Given a saturated collection Λ of sweepouts, there exists a minimizing sequence of sweepouts $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that:

- (1) $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_{t \in [0,1]}$ is a continuous sweepout for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
- (2) Every min-max sequence of surfaces $\{\Sigma_{t_n}^n \cap M\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ constructed from such a minimizing sequence has a subsequence converging weakly to a freely stationary varifold $V \in \mathcal{V}_{\infty}$ supported in M.

The key new ingredient in the proposition above is a perturbation lemma which says that any sweepout can be approximated by a continuous sweepout.

LEMMA 4.9. Given any sweepout $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t \in [0,1]} \in \Lambda$ and any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a continuous sweepout $\{\Sigma'_t\}_{t \in [0,1]} \in \Lambda$ such that

$$\mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_t'\}) \le \mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_t\}) + \epsilon.$$

The proof of Lemma 4.9 is rather technical and will be presented in Appendix B. Using the perturbation lemma, one can assume, without loss of generality, that a minimizing sequence of sweepouts is continuous. Once we have continuity, the proof of Proposition 4.8 is a simple modification of the arguments in Section 4 of [5]. We will give the details in Section 5 of this paper.

The second part of the proof of Theorem 4.7 is to establish the existence of a min-max sequence that is outer almost minimizing on small annuli. Let $x \in \tilde{M}$ and r > 0. Let $\mathcal{A}_r(x)$ be the collection of all annuli centered at x with outer radius less than r and inner radius greater than 0. We will prove the following existence result

300

in Section 6. A key note is that the proof requires continuity of the minimizing sequence of sweepout, which is given by Proposition 4.8.

PROPOSITION 4.10. Given a saturated collection Λ , there exists a positive function $r : \tilde{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ and a min-max sequence of surfaces $\{\Sigma^n = \Sigma^n_{t_n} \cap M\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that:

- (1) $\{\Sigma^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is an outer almost minimizing sequence in any annulus $An \in \mathcal{A}_{r(x)}(x)$, where x is any point in \widetilde{M} .
- (2) In every such annulus An, Σ^n is a smooth surface (possibly with boundary) when n is sufficiently large.
- (3) The sequence Σ^n converges to a freely stationary varifold V in M as $n \to \infty$.

The third part of the proof of Theorem 4.7 is a regularity theorem for outer almost minimizing varifolds. The idea is that the outer almost minimizing property enables us to construct replacements (see Definition 8.1) for the freely stationary varifold V obtained in Proposition 4.10. It turns out that having sufficiently many replacements implies that a freely stationary varifold is regular.

PROPOSITION 4.11. The freely stationary varifold V in Proposition 4.10 is integer rectifiable and there exist natural numbers n_1, \ldots, n_k and smooth compact properly embedded minimal surfaces $\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_k$ such that

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i \Gamma_i,$$

where each Γ_i is either closed or meets ∂M orthogonally along the free boundary $\partial \Gamma_i$.

The construction of replacements involves a minimization problem among all surfaces that are outward isotopic to a fixed surface. This is a localized version of Meeks-Simon-Yau's paper [24] with partially free boundary. In Section 7, we will treat this minimization problem in detail. In Section 8, we prove the regularity of freely stationary varifolds which can be replaced sufficiently many times. Combining Propositions 4.8, 4.10, and 4.11, we obtain the main convergence result (Theorem 4.7).

5 Existence of Freely Stationary Varifolds

In this section, we show that there exists a nice minimizing sequence of sweepout such that *any* min-max sequence of surfaces obtained from such a minimizing sequence has a subsequence converging to a varifold in M that is freely stationary. Using the perturbation lemma (Lemma 4.9), we can make the minimizing sequence continuous. This is essential in the proof of Proposition 4.8 and Proposition 4.10 in the next section.

We restate Proposition 4.8 below.

PROPOSITION 5.1 (Proposition 4.8). Given a saturated collection Λ of sweepouts, there exists a minimizing sequence of sweepouts $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that:

- (1) $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_{t \in [0,1]}$ is a continuous sweepout for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
- (2) Every min-max sequence of surfaces $\{\Sigma_{t_n}^n \cap M\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ constructed from such a minimizing sequence has a subsequence converging weakly to a freely stationary varifold $V \in \mathcal{V}_{\infty}$ supported in M.

PROOF. Let $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \Lambda$ be a minimizing sequence of sweepouts. We can assume, by Lemma 4.9, that $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_{t \in [0,1]}$ is a continuous sweepout for each *n*. So (1) is established.

Fix some $C > 4m_0$. By Lemma 3.4, $\mathcal{V}^C_{\infty}(M) \subset \mathcal{V}^C(M)$ is a compact set in the weak topology. Let *d* be a metric on $\mathcal{V}^C(M)$ whose metric topology agrees with the weak topology. By restricting ourselves to tangential vector fields in χ_{tan} , the same argument as in section 4 of [5] gives a "tightening" map

$$\Psi: \mathcal{V}^{C}(M) \to \mathfrak{I}\mathfrak{s}_{tan}$$

such that

- (a) Ψ is continuous with respect to the weak topology on $\mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{C}}(M)$ and the C^{1} -norm on \mathfrak{Is}_{tan} .
- (b) If $V \in \mathcal{V}_{\infty}^{C}(M)$, then $\Psi(V)$ is the identity isotopy on \tilde{M} .

(c) If
$$V \notin \mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{C}}_{\infty}(M)$$
, then

$$\|(\Psi(V)_1)_{\sharp}V\|(M) \le \|V\|(M) - L(d(V, \mathcal{V}_{\infty}^{C}(M)))$$

for some continuous strictly increasing function $L : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ for which L(0) = 0.

Remark 5.2. In step 1 of section 4 of [5], we should take $\|\chi_V\|_{\infty} \leq 1/k$ when k > 0 to make sure that Ψ is continuous. The rest of the argument goes through because the set of tangential vector fields χ_{tan} is a convex subset of the set of all vector fields χ in \tilde{M} . Hence, the vector field H_V defined in step 1 of section 4 of [5] also belongs to χ_{tan} .

Since $\{\Sigma_t^n\}$ are continuous sweepouts, for each n, $\{\Sigma_t^n \cap M\}_{t \in [0,1]}$ is a continuous family in $\mathcal{V}^C(M)$. Therefore, $\Psi(\Sigma_t \cap M)$ is a continuous family in \mathfrak{Is}_{tan} . By a smoothing argument (for example, one can take a convolution in the *t*-variable), we can make it a smooth family. We use these tangential isotopies to deform the minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma_t^n\}$ to another minimizing sequence $\{\Gamma_t^n\}$ that satisfies

(5.1)
$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\Gamma_{t}^{n} \cap M) \leq \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{t}^{n} \cap M) - \frac{L(d(\Sigma_{t}^{n} \cap M, \mathcal{V}_{\infty}^{C}(M)))}{2}.$$

As $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_n$ is a minimizing sequence of sweepouts, we can assume that

(5.2)
$$\mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_t^n\}) \le m_0 + \frac{1}{n}.$$

Furthermore, the sweepouts $\{\Gamma_t^n\}$ are continuous since only tangential vector fields are used in the deformations.

Next, we claim that for every $\epsilon > 0$, there exist $\delta > 0$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that whenever n > N and $\mathcal{H}^2(\Gamma_{t_n}^n \cap M) > m_0 - \delta$, we have $d(\Gamma_{t_n}^n \cap M, \mathcal{V}_{\infty}^C(M)) < \epsilon$. To see this, we argue by contradiction. Note first that the construction of the tightening map yields a continuous and increasing function $\lambda : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$ (independent of *t* and *n*) such that $\lambda(0) = 0$ and

(5.3)
$$d(\Sigma_t \cap M, \mathcal{V}^C_{\infty}(M)) \ge \lambda(d(\Gamma^n_t \cap M, \mathcal{V}^C_{\infty}(M))).$$

Fix $\epsilon > 0$ and choose $\delta > 0$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $L(\lambda(\epsilon))/2 - \delta > 1/N$.

We claim that for this choice of δ and N, whenever n > N and $\mathcal{H}^2(\Gamma_{t_n}^n \cap M) > m_0 - \delta$, we have $d(\Gamma_{t_n}^n \cap M, \mathcal{V}_{\infty}^C(M)) < \epsilon$. Suppose not. Then there are n > N and t_n such that $\mathcal{H}^2(\Gamma_{t_n}^n \cap M) > m_0 - \delta$ and $d(\Gamma_t^n \cap M, \mathcal{V}_{\infty}^C(M)) \ge \epsilon$. Hence, from (5.1) and (5.3) we get

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{t}^{n} \cap M) \geq \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Gamma_{t}^{n} \cap M) + \frac{L(\lambda(\epsilon))}{2}$$
$$> m_{0} + \frac{L(\lambda(\epsilon))}{2} - \delta > m_{0} + \frac{1}{N} > m_{0} + \frac{1}{n}.$$

This contradicts (5.2). This proves our claim and the claim clearly implies (2) in Proposition 5.1. Therefore, the proof is completed. \Box

6 Existence of Outer Almost Minimizing Varifolds

In this section, we prove the existence of a min-max sequence that is outer almost minimizing on small annuli. The proof is a combinatorial argument first introduced by F. Almgren in [2]. First we recall the following definition from [5]:

DEFINITION 6.1. Let \mathcal{CO} be the set of pairs (U^1, U^2) of open sets in \tilde{M} with

 $d(U^1, U^2) > 2\min\{\operatorname{diam}(U^1), \operatorname{diam}(U^2)\}.$

Given $(U^1, U^2) \in CO$, we say that $V \in \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$ is ϵ -outer almost minimizing in (U^1, U^2) if it is ϵ -outer almost minimizing in at least one of U^1 or U^2 .

Remark 6.2. The significance of CO is that for any (U^1, U^2) and $(V^1, V^2) \in CO$, there are some i, j = 1, 2 with $d(U^i, V^j) > 0$; hence $U^i \cap V^j = \emptyset$.

The key lemma in this section is the following:

LEMMA 6.3. Let $\{\Sigma_t^n\}$ be a minimizing sequence as given in Proposition 5.1. Then there is a min-max sequence $\{\Sigma^L\}_{L \in \mathbb{N}} = \{\Sigma_{t_n(L)}^{n(L)}\}_{L \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that

each
$$\Sigma^{L}$$
 is $\frac{1}{L}$ -outer almost minimizing in every $(U^{1}, U^{2}) \in CO$.

M. LI

PROOF. We will argue by contradiction. First of all, we fix a minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma_t^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \Lambda$ satisfying Proposition 5.1 and such that

(6.1)
$$\mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_t^n\}) < m_0 + \frac{1}{n}$$

Fix $L \in \mathbb{N}$. To prove the lemma, we make the following claim.

Claim 1. There exists n > L and $t_n \in [0, 1]$ such that $\Sigma^n = \Sigma_{t_n}^n$ satisfies

- (a) Σ^n is $\frac{1}{L}$ -outer almost minimizing in every $(U^1, U^2) \in CO$.
- (b) $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma^n \cap M) \ge m_0 \frac{1}{L}$.

304

PROOF. We define the sets of "big slices" for each n > L by

$$K_n = \left\{ t \in [0,1] : \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t^n \cap M) \ge m_0 - \frac{1}{L} \right\}.$$

Note that K_n is compact since $\{\Sigma_t^n\}$ is a continuous sweepout (by (4) in Definition 4.1). If Claim 1 is false, then for every $t \in K_n$, there exists a pair of open sets $(U^{1,t}, U^{2,t}) \in \mathcal{CO}$ such that Σ_t^n is not $\frac{1}{L}$ -outer almost minimizing in any one of them. So for every $t \in K_n$, there exists isotopies $\{\varphi_s^{1,t}\}_{s \in [0,1]} \in \Im\mathfrak{s}_{out}(U^{1,t})$ and $\{\varphi_s^{2,t}\}_{s \in [0,1]} \in \Im\mathfrak{s}_{out}(U^{2,t})$ such that for i = 1, 2:

- (1) $\mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_s^{i,t}(\Sigma_t^n) \cap M) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t^n \cap M) + \frac{1}{8L}$ for every $s \in [0,1]$.
- (2) $\mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_1^{i,t}(\Sigma_t^n) \cap M) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t^n \cap M) \frac{1}{1}$.

Next, we want to establish the following claim:

Claim 2. For each $t \in K_n$, there exists $\delta = \delta(t) > 0$ such that if $|\tau - t| < \delta$, then for i = 1, 2,

(1') $\mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_s^{i,t}(\Sigma_\tau^n) \cap M) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_\tau^n \cap M) + \frac{1}{4L}$ for every $s \in [0,1]$. (2') $\mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_1^{i,t}(\Sigma_\tau^n) \cap M) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_\tau^n \cap M) - \frac{1}{2L}$.

PROOF. To see why (1') is true, we argue by contradiction. Suppose no such δ exists; then there exists a sequence $\tau_j \to t$ and $s_j \in [0, 1]$ such that for all j,

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\varphi_{s_{j}}^{i,t}(\Sigma_{\tau_{j}}^{n})\cap M) > \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\tau_{j}}^{n}\cap M) + \frac{1}{4L}.$$

After passing to a subsequence, we can assume that $s_j \to s_0$ for some $s_0 \in [0, 1]$. Observe that $\varphi_{s_j}^{i,t}(\Sigma_{\tau_j}^n)$ converges weakly as varifolds to $\varphi_{s_0}^{i,t}(\Sigma_t^n)$ as $j \to \infty$. By (2.6.2(c)) in [1] and the fact that the sweepouts $\{\Sigma_t^n\}$ are continuous, we have

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\varphi_{s_{0}}^{i,t}(\Sigma_{t}^{n}) \cap M) \geq \limsup_{j \to \infty} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\varphi_{s_{j}}^{i,t}(\Sigma_{\tau_{j}}^{n}) \cap M)$$
$$\geq \lim_{j \to \infty} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\tau_{j}}^{n} \cap M) + \frac{1}{4L}$$
$$= \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{t}^{n} \cap M) + \frac{1}{4L}.$$

This contradicts (1) above. So we can choose $\delta > 0$ such that (1') holds.

The proof of (2') is similar. Again, if no such $\delta > 0$ exists, then there exists a sequence $\tau_j \rightarrow t$ such that for all j,

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\varphi_{1}^{i,t}(\Sigma_{\tau_{j}}^{n})\cap M) > \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\tau_{j}}^{n}\cap M) - \frac{1}{2L}.$$

Since $\varphi_1^{i,t}(\Sigma_{\tau_j}^n)$ converges weakly to $\varphi_1^{i,t}(\Sigma_t^n)$ in \widetilde{M} as $j \to \infty$, we have

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\varphi_{1}^{i,t}(\Sigma_{t}^{n}) \cap M) \geq \limsup_{j \to \infty} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\varphi_{1}^{i,t}(\Sigma_{\tau_{j}}^{n}) \cap M)$$
$$\geq \lim_{j \to \infty} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{\tau_{j}}^{n} \cap M) - \frac{1}{2L}$$
$$= \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{t}^{n} \cap M) - \frac{1}{2L}.$$

This contradicts (2) above. Therefore, (2') holds for some $\delta > 0$. Thus, Claim 2 is established.

The rest of the proof is exactly the same as in section 5.2 of [5], replacing \mathcal{H}^2 by $\mathcal{H}^2(\cdot \cap M)$ and (2') (3') in [5] by our (1') and (2') in Claim 2 above. Note that there is a typo in the last line of the equation in that section. It should read

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}(\Gamma_{t}^{n}) \leq \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{t}^{n}) - \frac{1}{2L} + \frac{1}{4L} \leq \mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_{t}^{n}\}) - \frac{1}{4L}$$

The proof of Claim 1 is completed and so is the proof of Lemma 6.3.

For any $x \in \tilde{M}$, 0 < s < t, let An(x, s, t) denote the open annulus centered at x with inner radius s and outer radius t. Let r > 0; we set $A_r(x)$ as the collection of open annuli An(x, s, t) such that 0 < s < t < r. By the same argument as in proposition 5.1 of Colding–De Lellis [5], we obtain Proposition 4.10, which we restate below.

PROPOSITION 6.4 (Proposition 4.10). Given a saturated collection Λ , there exists a positive function $r : \widetilde{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ and a min-max sequence of surfaces $\{\Sigma^n = \Sigma_{t_n}^n \cap M\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that:

- (1) $\{\Sigma^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is an outer almost minimizing sequence in any annulus $An \in \mathcal{A}_{r(x)}(x)$ where x is any point in \tilde{M} .
- (2) In every such annulus An, Σ^n is a smooth surface (possibly with boundary) when n is sufficiently large.
- (3) The sequence Σ^n converges to a freely stationary varifold V in M as $n \to \infty$.

7 A Minimization Problem with Partially Free Boundary

In this section, we prove a result about minimizing area in M among isotopic surfaces similar to the ones obtained by F. Almgren and L. Simon [3], W. Meeks, L. Simon, and S.T. Yau [24], M. Grüter and J. Jost [14], and J. Jost [19]. Since

we are restricting to the class of outward isotopies, we need to modify some of the arguments used in the papers above.

First, we define the concept of admissible open sets.

DEFINITION 7.1. An open set $U \subset \tilde{M}$ is said to be *admissible* if it satisfies all the following properties:

- (i) U is smooth, i.e., U is an open set with smooth boundary ∂U ;
- (ii) U is uniformly convex in the sense that all the principal curvatures with respect to the inward normal is positive along ∂U ;
- (iii) the closure \overline{U} is diffeomorphic to the closed unit 3-ball in \mathbb{R}^3 ;
- (iv) ∂U intersects ∂M transversally and $U \cap \partial M$ is topologically an open disk;
- (v) the angle between ∂U and ∂M is always less than $\pi/2$ when measured in $U \cap M$, i.e., if ν_U and ν_M are the outward unit normal of U and M respectively, then $\nu_U \cdot \nu_M < 0$ along $\partial U \cap \partial M$.

Given a surface Σ in \tilde{M} , we want to minimize area (in M) among all the surfaces that are outward isotopic to Σ and are identical to Σ outside an admissible open set U.

DEFINITION 7.2. Let $U \subset \tilde{M}$ be an admissible open set. Let $\Sigma \subset \tilde{M}$ be an embedded closed surface (not necessarily connected) intersecting ∂U transversally. Consider the minimization problem $(\Sigma, \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U))$:

$$\alpha = \inf_{\{\varphi_s\} \in \mathfrak{Is}_{out}(U)} \mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_1(\Sigma) \cap M)$$

if a sequence $\{\varphi_s^k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathfrak{Is}_{out}(U)$ satisfies

$$\lim_{k\to\infty}\mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_1^k(\Sigma)\cap M)=\alpha,$$

we say that $\Sigma_k = \varphi_1^k(\Sigma)$ is a *minimizing sequence* for the minimization problem $(\Sigma, \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U))$.

Note that if two surfaces Σ_1 and Σ_2 agree in M, i.e., $\Sigma_1 \cap M = \Sigma_2 \cap M$, then the minimization problems $(\Sigma_1, \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U))$ and $(\Sigma_2, \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U))$ are equivalent since we only count area in M and $\varphi_1(\Sigma_1) \cap M = \varphi_1(\Sigma_2) \cap M$ for any $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}$.

By a small perturbation by outward isotopies, we can always obtain a minimizing sequence Σ_k so that Σ_k intersects ∂M transversally for every k. The key result of this section is the following theorem:

THEOREM 7.3. Let $U \subset \widetilde{M}$ be an admissible open set; suppose $\{\Sigma_k\}$ is a minimizing sequence for the minimization problem $(\Sigma, \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U))$ defined in Definition 7.2 so that Σ_k intersects ∂M transversally for each k, and $\Sigma_k \cap M$ converge weakly to a varifold $V \in \mathcal{V}(M)$.

Then, the following hold:

(a) $V = \Gamma$ for some compact embedded minimal surface $\Gamma \subset \overline{U} \cap M$ with smooth boundary (except possibly at $\partial U \cap \partial M$) contained in $\partial(U \cap M)$.

- (b) The fixed boundary of Γ is the same as $\Sigma \cap (\partial U \cap M)$.
- (c) Γ meets $\partial M \cap U$ orthogonally along the free boundary of $\partial \Gamma$.
- (d) Γ is stable with respect to $\Im \mathfrak{s}_{tan}(U)$.

Remark 7.4. It is clear that V is freely stationary. The only thing we have to prove is regularity. Interior regularity follows from a localized version of [24] given in proposition 3.3 of [8]. The regularity at the fixed boundary $\partial U \cap \operatorname{int}(M)$ is also discussed in [8]. Therefore, the only case left is the regularity at the free boundary $\partial M \cap U$. Hence, Theorem 7.3 says that the limit varifold V is equal to a stable, smooth, properly embedded minimal surface Γ (possibly disconnected).

The proof of Theorem 7.3 goes as follows. We first apply a version of local γ -reduction (see [8, 24]) to reduce the minimization problem to the case of genus zero surfaces. Then we use a result from [19] to conclude that such minimizers are smooth.

7.1 Local *y*-Reductions

Following [8, 24], replacing area by area in M, we modify some of their definitions and propositions for our purpose. First of all, we fix $\delta > 0$ such that the following lemma holds (see lemma 4.2 of [19]).

LEMMA 7.5. There exists $r_0 > 0$ and $\delta \in (0, 1)$, depending only on \widetilde{M} and M, with the property that if Σ is a surface in int(M) with $\partial \Sigma \subset \partial M$ and

$$\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma \cap B_{r_0}(x)) < \delta^2 r_0^2 \quad \text{for each } x \in \widetilde{M},$$

then there exists a unique compact set $K \subset M$ such that:

- (a) $\partial K \cap \operatorname{int}(M) = \Sigma$ (*i.e.*, K is bounded by Σ modulo ∂M);
- (b) $\mathcal{H}^3(K \cap B_{r_0}(x)) \leq \delta^2 r_0^3$ for each $x \in \widetilde{M}$; and
- (c) $\mathcal{H}^3(K) \leq c_0 \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma)^{3/2}$, where c_0 depends only on \tilde{M} and M.

By rescaling the metric of \tilde{M} if necessary, we can assume that $r_0 = 1$ in Lemma 7.5. From now on, we will assume that $\delta > 0$ satisfies Lemma 7.5 with $r_0 = 1$. We will generalize the notion of γ -reductions to allow boundary reductions as well. Suppose $0 < \gamma < \delta^2/9$.

DEFINITION 7.6. Let Σ_1 and Σ_2 be closed (possibly disconnected) embedded surfaces in \tilde{M} . We say that Σ_2 is a (γ, U) -reduction of Σ_1 and write

$$\Sigma_2 \overset{(\gamma,U)}{\ll} \Sigma_1$$

if the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1) Σ_2 is obtained from Σ_1 through a surgery in U, that is:
 - (i) $\overline{\Sigma_1 \setminus \Sigma_2} \cap M = A \subset U$ is diffeomorphic to either a closed annulus $\mathcal{A} = \{(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid 1 \le x_1^2 + x_2^2 \le 2\}$ or a closed half-annulus $\mathcal{A}_+ = \{(x_1, x_2) \in \mathcal{A} \mid x_2 \ge 0\}.$

- (ii) $\overline{\Sigma_2 \setminus \Sigma_1} \cap M = D_1 \cup D_2 \subset U$ with each D_i diffeomorphic to either the closed unit disk $\mathcal{D} = \{(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid x_1^2 + x_2^2 \le 1\}$ or the closed unit half-disk $\mathcal{D}_+ = \{(x_1, x_2) \in \mathcal{D} \mid x_2 \ge 0\}.$
- (iii) There exists a compact set K embedded in U, homeomorphic to the closed unit 3-ball with $\partial K = A \cup D_1 \cup D_2$ modulo ∂M (i.e., there exists a compact set $Y \subset \partial M$ such that $\partial K = A \cup D_1 \cup D_2 \cup Y$) and $(K \setminus \partial K) \cap (\Sigma_1 \cup \Sigma_2) = \emptyset.$
- (2) $\mathcal{H}^2(A) + \mathcal{H}^2(D_1) + \mathcal{H}^2(D_2) < 2\gamma$.
- (3) If Γ is a connected component of $\Sigma_1 \cap \overline{U} \cap M$ containing A, and $\Gamma \setminus A$ is disconnected, then for each component of $\Gamma \setminus A$ we have one of the following possibilities:
 - (a) either it is a genus zero surface contained in $U \cap M$ with area $\geq \delta^2/2$, or
 - (b) it is not a genus zero surface.

We say that Σ is (γ, U) -*irreducible* if there does not exist $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ such that $\widetilde{\Sigma} \overset{(\gamma, U)}{\ll} \Sigma$.

A immediate consequence of the above definition is the following:

Remark 7.7. Σ is (γ, U) -irreducible if and only if whenever $\Delta \subset U \cap M$ is a closed disc or half-disk with $\partial \Delta \setminus \partial M = \Delta \cap \Sigma$ and $\mathcal{H}^2(\Delta) < \gamma$, then there is a closed genus zero surface $D \subset \Sigma \cap U \cap M$ with $\partial \Delta \setminus \partial M = \partial D \setminus \partial M$ and $\mathcal{H}^2(D) < \delta^2/2.$

Similar to [24], we define strong (γ, U) -reduction as follows:

DEFINITION 7.8. Let Σ_1 and Σ_2 be closed (possibly disconnected) embedded surfaces in \widetilde{M} . We say that Σ_2 is a strong (γ, U) -reduction of Σ_1 and write

$$\Sigma_2 \stackrel{(\gamma,U)}{<} \Sigma_1$$

if there exists an isotopy $\{\psi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]} \in \mathfrak{Is}_{out}(U)$ such that

- (1) $\Sigma_2 \overset{(\gamma,U)}{\ll} \psi_1(\Sigma_1),$ (2) $\Sigma_2 \cap (\widetilde{M} \setminus U) = \Sigma_1 \cap (\widetilde{M} \setminus U),$ and (3) $\mathcal{H}^2((\psi_1(\Sigma_1)\Delta\Sigma_1) \cap M) < \gamma.$

We say that Σ is *strongly* (γ, U) -*irreducible* if there is no $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ such that $\widetilde{\Sigma} \stackrel{(\gamma, U)}{<} \Sigma$.

Following the same arguments in remark 3.1 of [24], we have the following proposition:

PROPOSITION 7.9. Given any closed embedded surface Σ (not necessarily connected), there exists a sequence $\Sigma = \Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \dots, \Sigma_k$ of closed embedded surfaces (not necessarily connected) such that

$$\Sigma_k \stackrel{(\gamma,U)}{<} \Sigma_{k-1} \stackrel{(\gamma,U)}{<} \cdots \stackrel{(\gamma,U)}{<} \Sigma_1 = \Sigma$$

where Σ_k is strongly (γ, U) -irreducible. Furthermore, there exists a constant c > 0 that depends only on genus $(\Sigma \cap M)$ and $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma \cap M)/\delta^2$ so that $k \leq c$, and

$$\mathcal{H}^2((\Sigma\Delta\Sigma_k)\cap M) \leq 3c\gamma$$

PROOF. The proof is the same as the proof of remark 3.1 in [24].

The following theorem gives our main result for strongly (γ, U) -irreducible surfaces Σ . For any closed surface Σ , we denote

$$E(\Sigma) = \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma \cap M) - \inf_{\Sigma' \in J_U(\Sigma)} \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma' \cap M),$$

where $J_U(\Sigma) = \{\varphi_1(\Sigma) : \{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U)\}$ denotes the set of all surfaces that are outward isotopic to Σ in U. Let Σ_0 denote the union of all components $\Lambda \subset \Sigma \cap \overline{U} \cap M$ such that there exists some $K_\Lambda \subset U$ diffeomorphic to the unit 3-ball such that $\Lambda \subset K_\Lambda$ and $\partial K_\Lambda \cap \Sigma \cap M = \emptyset$.

THEOREM 7.10. Let $U \subset \tilde{M}$ be an admissible open set, and $A \subset U$ be a compact subset diffeomorphic to the unit 3-ball. Assume ∂M intersects both ∂U and ∂A transversally.

Suppose $\Sigma \subset \widetilde{M}$ is a smooth, closed, embedded surface (possibly disconnected) such that:

- (i) Σ intersects both ∂M and ∂A transversally.
- (ii) $E(\Sigma) \leq \gamma/4$ and is strongly (γ, U) -irreducible.
- (iii) For each component Γ of $\Sigma \cap \partial A \cap M$, let F_{Γ} be the component in $(\partial A \cap M) \setminus \Gamma$ such that $\partial F_{\Gamma} \setminus \partial M = \Gamma$ and

$$\mathcal{H}^2(F_{\Gamma}) = \min\{\mathcal{H}^2(F_{\Gamma}), \mathcal{H}^2((\partial A \cap M) \setminus F_{\Gamma})\}.$$

Furthermore, suppose that $\sum_{j=1}^{q} \mathcal{H}^2(F_j) \leq \gamma/8$, where $F_j = F_{\Gamma_j}$ and $\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_q$ denote the components of $\Sigma \cap \partial A \cap M$. Note that each Γ is either a closed Jordan curve in M or a Jordan arc with endpoints on ∂M , and each F_{Γ} is either a disk, a half-disk, or an annulus in M.

Then $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_0) \leq E(\Sigma)$ and there exists pairwise disjoint, connected, closed genus zero surfaces D_1, \ldots, D_p with $D_i \subset (\Sigma \setminus \Sigma_0) \cap U \cap M$, $\partial D_i \setminus \partial M \subset \partial A$, and $(\bigcup_{i=1}^p D_i) \cap A \cap M = (\Sigma \setminus \Sigma_0) \cap A \cap M$. Moreover,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{H}^{2}(D_{i}) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{q} \mathcal{H}^{2}(F_{j}) + E(\Sigma).$$

Furthermore, for any given $\alpha > 0$ *, we have*

$$\mathcal{H}^{2}\Big(\Big(\bigcup_{i=1}^{p}(\varphi_{1}(D_{i})\setminus\partial D_{i})\Big)\cap M\setminus(A\setminus\partial A)\Big)<\alpha$$

for some isotopy $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U)$ (depending on α) that is identity on some open neighborhood of $(\Sigma \setminus \Sigma_0) \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^p (D_i \setminus \partial D_i)$.

M. LI

Although all sufficiently small disks with the same boundary are isotopic to each other, which is a crucial point in the proof of theorem 2 in [24], not all of them are outward isotopic to each other. Therefore, we need to establish the lemma below, which says that all small disks are almost outward isotopic, modulo arbitrarily small area.

LEMMA 7.11. Let U and A be as in Theorem 7.10. Let Γ be a Jordan curve in $\partial A \cap \operatorname{int}(M)$ that is either closed or having endpoints on ∂M . Let $F \subset \partial A$ be a connected component of $(\partial A \cap M) \setminus \Gamma$ that is diffeomorphic to a disk, a half-disk, or an annulus. Let $D \subset U \cap M$ be a genus zero surface transversal to ∂M with $\partial D \setminus \partial M = \partial F \cap \setminus \partial M = \Gamma$, and $D \cap F = \emptyset$. In addition, we assume that $F \cup D$ bounds a unique compact set $K \subset M$ modulo ∂M , i.e., $\partial K \cap \operatorname{int}(M) = F \cup D$.

Then, for any $\alpha > 0$, there exists an isotopy $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U)$ supported on a small neighborhood of K such that $\varphi_s(x) = x$ for all $x \in \Gamma$ and all $s \in [0,1]$; moreover,

$$\mathcal{H}^2((\varphi_1(D) \cap M)\Delta F) < \alpha.$$

In other words, we can outward isotope D to approximate F as close as we want.

PROOF. We divide the situation into two cases according to whether the boundary curve Γ is closed or not.

Case 1. Γ is a simple closed curve.

In this case, F is either a closed disk or a closed annulus in $\partial A \cap M$. In the latter case, we will show that we can even find an isotopy $\{\varphi_s\}$ supported on a neighborhood of K, leaving Γ fixed, and $\varphi_1(D) \cap M = F$.

After a change of coordinate, we can assume that

- U is the open ball of radius 2 in \mathbb{R}^3 centered at origin,
- $A \subset U$ is the closed unit 3-ball centered at origin,
- $M \cap U = U \cap \{x_3 \ge 0\}$ is the upper half-ball, and
- $\Gamma = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_3 = \frac{1}{2}, x_1^2 + x_2^2 = \frac{3}{4}\}.$

First, we look at the case that *F* is a closed disk, i.e., $F = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_3 \ge \frac{1}{2}\}$. Let *D* be the genus zero surface as given in the hypothesis. Note that *D* meets ∂M at a finite number of simple closed curves Γ_i , $i = 1, \ldots, N$, each of which bounds a closed disk D_i in $\partial M \cap U$. Since *D* is a genus zero surface with boundary, it is clear that $D \cup F \cup (D_1 \cup \cdots \cup D_N)$ is homeomorphic to a 2-sphere, and thus the compact set *K* bounded by $F \cup D$ modulo ∂M is homeomorphic to the unit 3-ball in \mathbb{R}^3 .

Observe that if $D \cap \partial M = \emptyset$, then it is trivial that we can isotope D to F, holding ∂M fixed. If $D \cap \partial M \neq \emptyset$, we then use a tangential isotopy to deform it so that it approximates a disk disjoint from ∂M with boundary Γ , which in turn is isotopic to F. To see this, perturb each closed disk D_i into the interior of M such that the boundary of the disk stays on D. Call \hat{D}_i the perturbed disk. Then there is a closed annulus $A_i \subset D$ such that $\partial A_i = \partial D_i \cup \partial \hat{D}_i$ and $A_i \cup D_i \cup \hat{D}_i$ bounds a ball in K. Using a tangential isotopy, we can deform D such that it agrees with $(D \setminus A_i) \cup D_i$ with an error in area as small as we want (one simply shrinks the size of the neck in *K*). Repeating the whole procedure for each D_i , one can deform *D* such that is arbitrarily close to a disk disjoint from ∂M , and we are done.

In the case that *F* is a closed annulus, again let Γ_i be the set of simple closed curves where *D* meets ∂M . Note that all except possibly one Γ_i bounds a disk in *K*. For those which bound a disk, we can repeat the "neck shrinking" argument as in the previous case to eliminate them. Therefore, we can assume that Γ_i together with $\Gamma_0 = \partial F \cap \partial M$ bounds a connected genus zero surface Λ in ∂M . After a further change of coordinate, we can assume that $K = \Lambda \times [0, \frac{1}{2}]$, where we think of Λ as a subset of $\partial M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$.

Next consider the outward isotopy given by the vertical translations $\varphi_s(x_1, x_2, x_3) = (x_1, x_2, x_3 - s)$ (with some cutoff near ∂U so that it is supported in U). Take a smooth function χ on \mathbb{R}^2 such that $\chi = 0$ along Γ_0 , $\chi = 1$ outside a small neighborhood V of Γ_0 disjoint from all Γ_i and $0 < \chi < 1$ elsewhere. By choosing the neighborhood V of Γ_0 smaller and smaller, we see that the outward isotopy $\{\chi\varphi_s\}$ given by the vertical translations with cutoff would deform D to approximate F as close as we want. This implies our desired conclusion.

Case 2. Γ is an arc with endpoints on ∂M .

Assume the standard setting as before after a change of coordinate. Suppose for our convenience that $\Gamma = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \partial A : x_1 = 0\}$ and $F = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \partial A : x_1 \geq 0\}$. Note that D intersects ∂M at a Jordan arc Γ_1 with the same endpoints as Γ and a (possibly empty) finite collection of disjoint simple closed curves Γ_i , i = 2, ..., N. Let $\Gamma_0 = F \cap \partial M$. By assumption, there is a compact set $K \subset M \cap U$ such that $\partial K = D \cup F \cup \Lambda$ where Λ is a genus zero surface in ∂M with $\partial \Lambda = \bigcup_{i=0}^{N} \Gamma_i$. For all those Γ_i , i = 2, ..., N, which bound a disk in Λ , we can shrink down the neck as in Case 1. So we can assume without loss of generality that Λ is connected.

There are two further subcases: either $\Gamma_0 \cup \Gamma_1$ is the outermost boundary of Λ or it is not. In the first case, similar to the second part of Case 1 above, we can assume (up to a change of coordinate) that $F = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_1 = 0, x_3 \ge 0, x_2^2 + x_3^2 \le 1\}$, $\Lambda = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_3 = 0, x_1 \ge 0, x_1^2 + x_2^2 \le 1\} \setminus \bigcup_{i=2}^N D_i$ where D_i is the disk in ∂M bounded by the simple closed curve Γ_i , and D is the union of a graph over Λ and n-1 cylinders contained in $\Gamma_i \times [0, 1]$. Using a cutoff function χ as before that is zero on $\Gamma_0 = F \cap \partial M$ and the vertical translations, we can deform D to approximate F as close as we want.

Now we are left with the case that $\Gamma_0 \cup \Gamma_1$ is not the outermost boundary of Λ . In this case, we can take $\Lambda = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_3 = 0, x_1^2 + x_2^2 \leq \frac{9}{16}\} \setminus \bigcup_{i=2}^N D_i$ where D_i is the disk in ∂M bounded by the simple closed curve Γ_i , and D is the union of a graph over Λ and n-1 cylinders contained in $\Gamma_i \times [0, 1]$. Then a similar translation with cutoff will deform D to approximate F and we are done.

Now we are ready to give a proof of Theorem 7.10.

PROOF OF THEOREM 7.10. The proof is almost the same as that in [24] except that we have to use Lemma 7.11 because not all small disks are outward isotopic to each other.

As in Meeks-Simon-Yau [24], we can assume that $\Sigma_0 = \emptyset$. We proceed by induction on q. Denote the following:

$$(H)_q \ \Sigma_0 = \emptyset, \sum_{j=1}^q \mathcal{H}^2(F_j) \le \gamma/8, E(\Sigma) \le \gamma/2 - 2\sum_{j=1}^q \mathcal{H}^2(F_j), \text{ and } \Sigma \text{ is strongly } (\hat{\gamma}, U) \text{-irreducible, where } \hat{\gamma} = \gamma/4 + 4\sum_{j=1}^q \mathcal{H}^2(F_j) + E(\Sigma).$$

 $(C)_q$ the conclusion of Theorem 7.10 is true.

We will show that the statement " $(H)_q \Rightarrow (C)_q$ " is true for all q. Assume it is true for q - 1. We want to show by induction that it is true for q also.

Relabeling if necessary, we can assume that F_q is innermost, i.e., $F_q \cap \Gamma_j = \emptyset$ for all $j \neq q$. Since Σ is strongly $(\hat{\gamma}, U)$ -irreducible and $\mathcal{H}^2(F_q) < \hat{\gamma}$, by Remark 7.7, there exists a connected genus zero surface $D \subset \Sigma \cap U \cap M$ such that $\partial D \setminus \partial M = \Gamma_q$ and $\mathcal{H}^2(D) < \delta^2/2$. Since F_q is innermost, $D \cap F_q = \emptyset$. As the areas of F_q and D are small, we can apply Lemma 7.5. Hence there is a unique compact set $K \subset M$ that is bounded by $F_q \cup D$ modulo ∂M . Moreover, since $F \cup D$ is a genus zero surface, it is easy to see that there exists a small neighborhood of K that is diffeomorphic to the unit 3-ball whose boundary is disjoint from $\Sigma \cap M$. Because we assume that $\Sigma_0 = \emptyset$, we know that the whole neighborhood is disjoint from $(\Sigma \cap M) \setminus D$.

Replace D by F_q and write $\Sigma_* = (\Sigma \setminus D) \cup F_q$ (which is only a Lipschitz surface) and $F_{q,\epsilon} = \{x \in \tilde{M} : d(x, F_q) < \epsilon\}$ for each $\epsilon > 0$; we can select a continuous tangential isotopy $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]} \in \Im_{tan}(U)$ such that $\varphi_s(F_{q,\epsilon}) \subset F_{q,\epsilon}$, $\varphi_s(x) = x$ for $x \notin F_{q,\epsilon}$. Furthermore,

(7.1)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}^2((\Sigma_* \cap F_{q,\epsilon}) \cap M) &\leq \mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_1(\Sigma_* \cap F_{q,\epsilon}) \cap M) \\ &\leq \mathcal{H}^2((\Sigma_* \cap F_{q,\epsilon}) \cap M) + \epsilon \end{aligned}$$

and

(7.2)
$$\varphi_1(\Sigma_* \cap F_{q,\epsilon}) \cap \partial A = \emptyset.$$

In other words, we deform Σ_* to detach F_q from ∂A .

Let $\hat{\Sigma}_* = \varphi_1(\Sigma_*)$ (smooth by suitably choosing φ_1) for ϵ small enough; we have

(i)
$$\hat{\Sigma}_* \cap \partial A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{q-1} \Gamma_j$$
,
(ii) $\mathcal{H}^2((\hat{\Sigma}_* \Delta \Sigma) \cap M) < \mathcal{H}^2(D) + \mathcal{H}^2(F_q) + \epsilon$, and
(iii) $\mathcal{H}^2(\hat{\Sigma}_* \cap M) < \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma \cap M) + \mathcal{H}^2(F_q) - \mathcal{H}^2(D) + \epsilon$.

Notice (iii) implies

(iii')
$$E(\widehat{\Sigma}_*) < E(\Sigma) + \mathcal{H}^2(F_q) - \mathcal{H}^2(D) + \epsilon$$

because Lemma 7.11 implies that

(7.3)
$$\inf_{\Sigma' \in J_U(\Sigma)} \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma' \cap M) \leq \inf_{\Sigma' \in J_U(\widehat{\Sigma}_*)} \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma' \cap M).$$

Taking $\epsilon < \mathcal{H}^2(F_q)$ and following the same arguments in [24], we see that $\hat{\Sigma}_*$ satisfies $(H)_{q-1}$; hence $(C)_{q-1}$ holds by the induction hypothesis. There must be pairwise disjoint connected genus zero surfaces $\tilde{\Delta}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\Delta}_p$ contained in $\hat{\Sigma}_* \cap U \cap M$ with $\partial \tilde{\Delta}_j \setminus \partial M \subset \partial A$, $(\bigcup_{i=1}^p \tilde{\Delta}_i) \cap (A \setminus \partial A) = \hat{\Sigma}_* \cap (A \setminus \partial A) \cap M$, and

(7.4)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\widetilde{\Delta}_{i}) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{q-1} \mathcal{H}^{2}(F_{j}) + E(\widehat{\Sigma}_{*}).$$

Furthermore, for any $\alpha > 0$,

(7.5)
$$\mathcal{H}^{2}\Big(\bigcup_{i=1}^{p} (\tilde{\Psi}_{1}(\tilde{\Delta}_{i}) \setminus \partial \tilde{\Delta}_{i}) \cap M \setminus (A \setminus \partial A)\Big) < \frac{\alpha}{2}$$

for some isotopy $\{\widetilde{\Psi}_s\}_{s\in[0,1]} \in \Im\mathfrak{s}_{out}(U)$ that fixes a neighborhood of $(\widehat{\Sigma}_* \cap M) \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^p (\widetilde{\Delta}_i \setminus \partial \widetilde{\Delta}_i)$. Reversing the isotopy φ used in (7.4) and (7.5), there are pairwise disjoint connected genus zero surfaces $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_p \subset \Sigma_* \cap M = ((\Sigma \cap M) \setminus D) \cup F_q$ with $(\bigcup_{i=1}^p \Delta_i) \cap (A \setminus \partial A) = \Sigma_* \cap (A \setminus \partial A) \cap M, \partial \Delta_i \setminus \partial M = \partial \widetilde{\Delta}_i \setminus \partial M$, and

(7.6)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Delta_{i}) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{q-1} \mathcal{H}^{2}(F_{j}) + E(\Sigma) + \mathcal{H}^{2}(F_{q}) - \mathcal{H}^{2}(D).$$

Furthermore,

(7.7)
$$\mathcal{H}^{2}\Big(\bigcup_{i=1}^{p} (\Psi_{1}(\Delta_{i}) \setminus \partial \Delta_{i}) \cap M \setminus (A \setminus \partial A)\Big) < \frac{3\alpha}{4}$$

for some isotopy $\{\Psi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]} \in \mathfrak{Is}_{out}(U)$ that fixes a neighborhood of $(\Sigma_* \cap M) \setminus (\bigcup_{i=1}^p (\Delta_i \setminus \partial \Delta_i) \cup F_{q,\epsilon}).$

Recall that K is the unique compact set in $U \cap M$ bounded by $D \cup F_q$, as in Lemma 7.11, hence there exists a continuous isotopy $\{\beta_s\} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U)$ supported on a neighborhood of K fixing $\Gamma_q = \partial D \setminus \partial M$ and

(7.8)
$$\mathcal{H}^2((\beta_1(D)\Delta F_q)\cap M) < \frac{\alpha}{8}$$

Moreover, we know that $(\Sigma \setminus D) \cap K = \emptyset$ because $\Sigma_0 = \emptyset$. Consider the following two cases: (i) $F_q \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^p \Delta_i$ and (ii) $F_q \not\subset \bigcup_{i=1}^p \Delta_i$.

In case (i), $F_q \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^p \Delta_i$, by taking $D_{j_0} = (\Delta_{j_0} \setminus F_q) \cup D$ for the unique j_0 such that $F_q \subset \Delta_{j_0}$, we can select $D_j = \Delta_j$ for all $j \neq j_0$. Also, we define a continuous outward isotopy $\hat{\varphi} = \{\hat{\varphi}_s\}$ by $\hat{\varphi} = \Psi * \beta$; by smoothing $\hat{\varphi}$ we obtain an outward isotopy φ satisfying the required conditions. Here $\Psi * \beta$ is defined by $\Psi * \beta_s(x) = \beta_{2s}(x)$ if $0 \le s \le \frac{1}{2}$ and $\Psi * \beta_s(x) = \Psi_{2s-1}(\beta_1(x))$ if $\frac{1}{2} < s \le 1$.

In case (ii), if $F_q \not\subset \bigcup_{i=1}^p \Delta_i$, we define the set of pairwise disjoint connected genus zero surfaces D_1, \ldots, D_{p+1} by setting $D_j = \Delta_j$, $j = 1, \ldots, p$, and $D_{p+1} = D$. In this case, we define a continuous isotopy $\hat{\varphi}$ by setting $\hat{\varphi} =$

 $\hat{\beta} * (\Psi * \beta)$, where $\hat{\beta} = \{\hat{\beta}_s\}$ is a smooth outward isotopy such that $\hat{\beta}_s(x) = x$ for all $x \in (\Sigma \cap M) \setminus D$ and $s \in [0, 1]$, and such that $\hat{\beta}_1(F_q) \cap M$ is a genus zero surface $\hat{D} \subset A \cap M$ with $\partial \hat{D} \setminus \partial M = \partial D \setminus \partial M$, $\hat{D} \cap \partial A = \partial D \cap \partial A$, and $\hat{D} \cap \Psi_s(\Sigma_*) = \Gamma_q$ for all $s \in [0, 1]$. Such a $\hat{\beta}$ exists once we show the claim that in case (ii), there is a

M. LI

for all $s \in [0, 1]$. Such a β exists once we show the claim that in case (ii), there is a neighborhood W of $\Gamma_q = \partial D \setminus \partial M$ such that $W \cap D \subset A$. Otherwise, we would have W with $\Gamma_q \subset W$ and $W \cap (\Sigma \setminus D) \cap M \subset A \setminus \partial A$, and this would imply that $F_q \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^p \Delta_i$ since $(\bigcup_{i=1}^p \Delta_i) \cap (A \setminus \partial A) = \Sigma_* \cap (A \setminus \partial A) \cap M$ (see the statement above (7.6)), thus contradicting we are in case (ii). By smoothing $\hat{\varphi}$ we then again obtain the required outward isotopy φ .

In each of the above cases, we have, by (7.6), that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{H}^2(\Delta_i) \le \sum_{j=1}^{q-1} \mathcal{H}^2(F_j) + E(\Sigma) + \mathcal{H}^2(F_q) - \mathcal{H}^2(D).$$

and hence

$$\sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{H}^2(D_i) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{q-1} \mathcal{H}^2(F_j) + E(\Sigma) + \mathcal{H}^2(F_q) - \mathcal{H}^2(D) + \mathcal{H}^2(D)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{q} \mathcal{H}^2(F_j) + E(\Sigma).$$

This proves that statement $(C)_q$ and the proof is finished by induction.

We will need a replacement lemma about finite collections of genus zero surfaces with disjoint boundaries (cf. lemma 2 in [24]).

LEMMA 7.12. Let $A \subset \tilde{M}$ be a closed subset that is diffeomorphic to the unit 3-ball such that $A \cap \partial M$ is diffeomorphic to the closed unit disk. Suppose D_1, \ldots, D_R are connected genus zero surfaces in $A \cap M$ with $D_i \setminus \partial D_i \subset A \setminus \partial A$ and $\partial D_i \subset \partial A \cap M$. Also, assume that $(\partial D_i \setminus \partial M) \cap (\partial D_j \setminus \partial M) = \emptyset$ and that either $D_i \cap D_j = \emptyset$ or D_i intersects D_j transversally for all $i \neq j$.

Then there exists pairwise disjoint connected genus zero surfaces $\tilde{D}_1, \ldots, \tilde{D}_R$ in $A \cap M$ with $\tilde{D}_i \setminus \partial \tilde{D}_i \subset A \setminus \partial A$, $\partial \tilde{D}_i \cap \partial A = \partial D_i \cap \partial A$, and $\mathcal{H}^2(\tilde{D}_i) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(D_i)$ for $i = 1, \ldots, R$.

PROOF. Assume that $R \ge 2$ and that D_1, \ldots, D_{R-1} are already pairwise disjoint. If we can prove the required result in this case, then the general case follows by induction on R.

Let $\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_q$ be pairwise disjoint Jordan curves (either closed or have boundaries on ∂M), not necessarily connected, such that

(7.9)
$$D_R \cap \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{R-1} D_i\right) = \bigcup_{j=1}^q \Gamma_j;$$

also, for each j = 1, ..., R, Γ_j divides each D_i that contains Γ_j into two genus zero surfaces (maybe disconnected) $D_i \setminus \Gamma_j = D'_i \cup D''_i$ with $\partial D'_i \setminus \partial M = \Gamma_j =$ $\partial D''_i \setminus \partial M$ (since $\partial D_i \cap M$ are pairwise disjoint by assumption, either D'_i or D''_i is disjoint from $\partial D_i \setminus \partial M$). As an inductive hypothesis, assume the lemma is true whenever (7.9) holds with q replaced by q - 1 on the right-hand side (with D_1, \ldots, D_{R-1} still being assumed pairwise disjoint).

For each j = 1, ..., q, let E_j be the part of $D_R \setminus \Gamma_j$ that is disjoint from $\partial D_R \setminus \partial M$. Hence $\partial E_j \setminus \partial M = \Gamma_j$. Let F_j be the corresponding part in $\bigcup_{i=1}^{R-1} D_i \setminus \Gamma_j$ that is disjoint from $\bigcup_{i=1}^{q-1} \partial D_i \setminus \partial M$. Hence $\partial F_j \setminus \partial M = \Gamma_j$. Let $K \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^R D_i$ be a genus zero surface with $\partial K \setminus \partial M = \Gamma_{j_0}$ for some j_0 such that

$$\mathcal{H}^2(K) \leq \min_{j=1,\ldots,q} \{\mathcal{H}^2(E_j), \mathcal{H}^2(F_j)\}.$$

Let $J \neq K$ be the other genus zero surface in $\bigcup_{i=1}^{R} D_i$ such that $\partial J \setminus \partial M = \partial K \setminus \partial M = \Gamma_{j_0}$. Evidently we must have

(7.10)
$$(K \setminus \partial K) \cap \left(\bigcup_{i \neq i_0} D_i\right) = \emptyset$$

where i_0 is such that $K \subset D_{i_0}$. Let $i_1 \neq i_0$ be such that $J \subset D_{i_1}$ (note that then one of i_0, i_1 is equal to R), and define $\hat{D}_j = D_j$ if $j \neq j_1$ and $\hat{D}_{i_1} = (D_{i_1} \setminus J) \cup K$. By (7.10) we have that each \hat{D}_j is an embedded genus zero surface, and clearly $\partial \hat{D}_j \setminus \partial M = \partial D_j \setminus \partial M$, $\mathcal{H}^2(\hat{D}_j) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(D_j)$, $\hat{D}_1, \ldots, \hat{D}_R$ are pairwise disjoint, and

(7.11)
$$\hat{D}_R \cap \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{K-1} \hat{D}_i\right) = K \cup \left(\bigcup_{j \neq j_0} \Gamma_j\right)$$

By smoothing \hat{D}_{i_1} near Γ_{j_0} and making a slight perturbation near K, we then obtain genus zero surfaces $\hat{D}_1^*, \ldots, \hat{D}_R^*$ with $\partial \hat{D}_j^* \setminus \partial M = \partial D_j \setminus \partial M, \mathcal{H}^2(\hat{D}_j^*) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(D_j), \hat{D}_1^*, \ldots, \hat{D}_{R-1}^*$ pairwise disjoint, and (using (7.11)),

$$\widehat{D}_R^* \cap \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{R-1} \widehat{D}_j^*\right) = \bigcup_{j \neq j_0} \Gamma_j.$$

Hence, we can apply the inductive hypothesis to the collection $\{\hat{D}_j^*\}$, thus obtaining the required collection $\tilde{D}_1, \ldots, \tilde{D}_R$.

7.2 Minimizing Sequence of Genus Zero Surfaces

In this section, we recall a result by J. Jost [19] on the regularity for minimizers of the minimization problem for genus zero surfaces with partially free boundary.

Let $A \subset \tilde{M}$ be an admissible open set. Let $\Gamma \subset \partial A \cap M$ be an embedded smooth curve in M that either meets ∂M at the two endpoints transversally or is disjoint from ∂M . Let $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(0, \Gamma)$ be the set of all genus zero surfaces D contained in M with Γ as boundary modulo ∂M , i.e., $\partial D \setminus \partial M = \Gamma$, and that meets ∂M transversally. We say that D_k is a *minimizing sequence for* \mathcal{M} if

$$\mathcal{H}^2(D_k) \le \inf_{D \in \mathcal{M}} \mathcal{H}^2(D) + \epsilon_k$$

for some positive real numbers $\epsilon_k \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$.

THEOREM 7.13 ([19]). Using the notation above, let $D_k \in \mathcal{M}$ be a minimizing sequence for \mathcal{M} , and suppose D_k converges to V in the sense of varifolds in \mathcal{M} . Then for each point $x_0 \in \text{supp } ||V|| \cap \partial \mathcal{M}$, there are $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\rho > 0$ (both depending on x_0) and an embedded minimal surface Γ in \mathcal{M} meeting $\partial \mathcal{M}$ orthogonally with

$$V \sqcup_{B_o(x_0)} = nv(\Gamma)$$

where $v(\Gamma)$ is the varifold represented by Γ with multiplicity 1.

7.3 Convergence of the Minimizing Sequence

In this section, we prove the main regularity result (Theorem 7.3).

PROOF OF THEOREM 7.3. Let $\{\Sigma_k\}$ be a minimizing sequence for the minimization problem $(\Sigma, \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(U))$ with $\Sigma_k \cap M$ converging weakly to a varifold Vin M and Σ_k intersects ∂M transversally for each k. Using the same argument as in [24], we can assume that $(\Sigma_k)_0 = \emptyset$ for all k (see the paragraph above Theorem 7.10 for the definition of $(\Sigma_k)_0$) and Σ_k is strongly (γ, U) -irreducible for all sufficiently large k for some fixed $0 < \gamma < \delta^2/9$. Furthermore, we have

(7.12)
$$\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_k \cap M) \le \inf_{\Sigma \in J_U(\Sigma_k)} \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma \cap M) + \epsilon_k$$

where $\epsilon_k \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$.

As noted before, interior regularity and regularity at a fixed boundary have been discussed in [8,24], so we only have to prove regularity at the free boundary.

Let $x_0 \in \text{supp}(||V||) \cap U \cap \partial M$ and v_0 be the outward unit normal at $x_0 \in \partial M$. Define $x_1 \equiv \exp_{x_0}(\epsilon v_0)$ to be a point outside M that is very close to x_0 (by choosing ϵ very small). Let $\rho_0 > 0$ be chosen small so that all the geodesic balls $B_{\rho}(x_1)$ in \tilde{M} are admissible open sets in the sense of Definition 7.1 for all $0 < \rho \le \rho_0$. Note that we have to move the center of the balls from x_0 to x_1 in order for (v) of Definition 7.1 to hold.

First of all, we want to show that V is freely stationary in U. Let $X \in \chi_{tan}$ be supported in U, and $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)}$ be the isotopy generated by X. By (7.12),

(7.13)
$$\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_k \cap M) \le \mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_s(\Sigma_k) \cap M) + \epsilon_k$$

for all k. Note that $\varphi_s(\Sigma_k) \cap M = \varphi_s(\Sigma_k \cap M)$ since $\{\varphi_s\} \in \Im_{\mathfrak{s}_{tan}}(U)$; taking $k \to \infty$ in (7.13), we get

(7.14)
$$||V||(M) \le ||(\varphi_s)_{\sharp}V||(M)$$

for all $s \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$. This shows that V is stable with respect to $\Im \mathfrak{s}_{tan}$, so V is freely stationary. Therefore, the monotonicity formula in [14] can be applied to V.

By the coarea formula, we have

$$\int_{\rho-\sigma}^{\rho} \mathcal{H}^1(\Sigma_k \cap \partial B_s(x_1) \cap M) ds \leq \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_k \cap (B_\rho(x_1) \setminus B_{\rho-\sigma}(x_1)) \cap M)$$

for almost every $\rho \in (0, \rho_0)$ and every $\sigma \in (0, \rho)$, where $B_s(x_1)$ is the closed geodesic ball in \tilde{M} of radius *s* centered at x_1 . Taking $\sigma = \rho/2$, the monotonicity formula in [14] gives

$$\int_{\rho/2}^{\rho} \mathcal{H}^1(\Sigma_k \cap \partial B_s(x_1) \cap M) ds \le c\rho^2$$

for all sufficiently large k, where c depends only on M and \widetilde{M} and any upper bound for $\rho_0^{-2}(||V||(B_{\rho_0}(x_1))+||V||(\widetilde{B}_{\rho_0}(x_1)))$ (recall that \widetilde{B} is the reflection of B across ∂M ; see [14] for the definition). Hence we can find a sequence $\{\rho_k\} \subset (3\rho/4, \rho)$ such that Σ_k intersects $\partial B_{\rho_k}(x_1)$ transversally and such that

(7.15)
$$\mathcal{H}^{1}(\Sigma_{k} \cap \partial B_{\rho_{k}}(x_{1}) \cap M) \leq c\rho \leq c\eta\rho_{0}$$

for all sufficiently large k provided $\rho \leq \eta \rho_0$, where for the moment $\eta \in (0, 1)$ is arbitrary. If η is sufficiently small, we see from that Theorem 7.10 is applicable. Hence, there are connected genus zero surfaces $D_k^{(1)}, \ldots, D_k^{(q_k)} \subset \Sigma_k \cap M$ and for any $\alpha > 0$, isotopies $\{\varphi_t^{(k)}\}_{t \in [0,1]} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(B_{\rho_0}(x_1))$ such that

 $\partial D^{(j)} \setminus \partial M \subset \partial B$ (r.)

(7.16)
$$\Sigma_k \cap B_{\rho_k}(x_1) \cap M = \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{q_k} D_k^{(j)}\right) \cap B_{\rho_k}(x_1)$$

$$q_k$$

(7.17)
$$\mathcal{H}^{2}\Big(\bigcup_{j=1}^{q_{k}}(\varphi_{1}^{(k)}(D_{k}^{(j)})\setminus\partial D_{k}^{(j)})\cap M\setminus(B_{\rho_{k}}(x_{1})\setminus\partial B_{\rho_{k}}(x_{1}))\Big)<\alpha,$$

and

$$\sum_{j=1}^{q_k} \mathcal{H}^2(D_k^{(j)}) \le c\rho^2 \le c\eta^2 \rho_0^2,$$

where c is independent of k, η , and ρ . Since $\mathcal{H}^2(D_k^{(j)}) \leq c\eta^2 \rho_0^2$, we know that for η sufficiently small, by the modified replacement lemma with free boundary (see lemma 4.4 in [19]), there are connected genus zero surfaces $\tilde{D}_k^{(j)}$ contained in M with

(7.18)
$$\partial \widetilde{D}_k^{(j)} \setminus \partial M = \partial D_k^{(j)} \setminus \partial M, \quad \widetilde{D}_k^{(j)} \setminus \partial \widetilde{D}_k^{(j)} \subset B_{\rho_k}(x_1)$$

and

(7.19)
$$\mathcal{H}^2(\tilde{D}_k^{(j)}) \le \mathcal{H}^2(D_k^{(j)}).$$

Combining (7.12) and (7.19) and using Lemma 7.12, (7.16), (7.17), and (7.18), $D_k^{(j)}$ is a minimizing sequence among all genus zero surfaces with fixed boundary

 $\partial D_k^{(j)}$ with any number of free boundaries on ∂M . By Theorem 7.13, we know that for each $x_0 \in \text{supp}(V) \cap \partial M$, there exist $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\rho > 0$ and an embedded minimal surface Σ meeting ∂M orthongonally with $V = n\Sigma$ on $B_\rho(x_0)$. This finishes the proof of Theorem 7.3.

8 Regularity of Outer Almost Minimizing Varifolds

In this section, we define the notion of *good replacement property* for freely stationary varifolds and prove that if there exists sufficiently many replacements, then the varifold must be a smooth minimal surface with free boundary. In the second half, we will describe how to construct these replacements for outer almost minimizing varifolds.

DEFINITION 8.1. Let $V \in \mathcal{V}(M)$ be a freely stationary varifold and $U \subset \tilde{M}$ be an open subset. We say that $V' \in \mathcal{V}(M)$ is a *replacement for* V in U if and only if the following hold:

- (1) V' is freely stationary.
- (2) V' = V on $G(M \setminus U)$ and ||V'||(M) = ||V||(M).
- (3) V'_{∟(U∩M)} is (an integer multiple of) a smooth, stable, properly embedded (not necessarily connected) minimal surface Σ ⊂ M meeting ∂M orthogonally. Here "Σ is stable" means that the second variation is nonnegative with respect to isotopies {φ_t}_{t∈(-ε,ε)} supported in U and φ_t(M) = M for all t.

DEFINITION 8.2. Let $V \in \mathcal{V}(M)$ be freely stationary and $U \subset \tilde{M}$ be an open subset. We say that V has the *good replacement property in U* if and only if all the following hold:

- (a) There is a positive function $r_1 : U \to \mathbb{R}$ such that for every annulus $\operatorname{An}_1 \in \mathcal{A}_{r_1(x)}(x)$, there is a replacement V' for V in An₁ such that (b) holds.
- (b) There is another positive function $r_2: U \to \mathbb{R}$ such that
 - (i) V' has a replacement V" in any $An_2 \in \mathcal{A}_{r_1(x)}(x)$ for the same x and r_1 as in (a), and V" satisfies (c) below.
 - (ii) V' has a replacement in any An $\in \mathcal{A}_{r_2(y)}(y)$ for any $y \in U$.
- (c) There is yet another positive function $r_3 : U \to \mathbb{R}$ such that V'' has a replacement in any $An \in \mathcal{A}_{r_3(z)}(z)$ for any $z \in U$.

The key result in this section is the following regularity theorem.

THEOREM 8.3. If V has the good replacement property in an open set $U \subset \tilde{M}$, then V is a smooth embedded minimal surface in $U \cap int(M)$ with smooth free boundary on $U \cap \partial M$.

The proof of interior regularity can be found in [5]. Therefore, we will only prove regularity at the free boundary. To prove Theorem 8.3, we first state a generalization of two lemmas from [5] adapted to the free boundary setting.

LEMMA 8.4. Let U be an open set of \tilde{M} and $x \in \partial M \cap U$. Then there exists some R > 0 such that $B_R(x) \cap \partial U = \emptyset$ and there does not exist any $W \in \mathcal{V}(M)$ with support contained in $B_R(x)$ and freely stationary in U.

PROOF. We prove the lemma in the case $U = B_1(0) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ and $M \cap U = B_1(0) \cap \{z \ge 0\}$. The proof for the general case is similar. Fix $x \in \partial M \cap U$, and let R > 0 be small enough (smaller than the convexity radius of x in the general case) such that $B_R(x) \Subset B_1(0)$. If the lemma is false, then there exists a freely stationary varifold W in $U \cap M$ that is supported in $B_R(x)$. Choose r > 0 to be the smallest radius such that $B_r(x)$ contains the support of W; then the support of W either touches $\partial B_r(x) \cap M$ at a point y in the interior of M or on the boundary ∂M . Either case cannot happen by the maximum principle (see lemma B.1 of [5] or theorem 1 of [40]). Note that in the general case, we have to perturb by a projection (see [14]) the variation field to make it tangent to ∂M , but the perturbation would be small if we choose R > 0 small enough, so we would still arrive at a contradiction.

Given a varifold V and a point $y \in \tilde{M}$, we let T(y, V) be the set of varifold tangents of V at y (see section 42 of [36]).

LEMMA 8.5. Let $x \in \tilde{M}$ and $V \in \mathcal{V}(M)$ be a freely stationary integer rectifiable varifold. Assume T is the subset of supp(||V||) defined by

 $T = \{ y \in \text{supp}(||V||) : T(y, V) \text{ consists of a plane transversal to } \partial B_{d(x,y)}(x) \}.$

If ρ is less than the injectivity radius $\operatorname{inj}(\widetilde{M})$ of \widetilde{M} , then T is dense in $\operatorname{supp}(||V||) \cap B_{\rho}(x) \setminus \partial M$.

PROOF. The proof is similar to the proof of lemma B.2 in [5].

PROPOSITION 8.6. Let $U \subset \tilde{M}$ be open and $V \in \mathcal{V}(M)$ be a freely stationary varifold in U. If there exists a positive function $r : U \to \mathbb{R}$ such that V has a replacement in any annulus $\operatorname{An} \in \mathcal{A}_{r(x)}(x)$, then V is integer rectifiable in $U \cap M$. Moreover, if $x \in \operatorname{supp}(||V||) \cap (\operatorname{int}(M) \cap U)$, then $\theta(x, V) \ge 1$ and any tangent cone to V at x is an integer multiple of a plane; if $x \in \operatorname{supp}(V) \cap (\partial M \cap U)$, then $\theta(x, V) \ge \frac{1}{2}$ and any tangent cone to V at x is an integer multiple of a half-plane orthogonal to $T_x \partial M$.

PROOF. Fix an $x \in \text{supp}(||V||) \cap (\partial M \cap U)$. Since V is freely stationary, the monotonicity formula (3.2) from [14] gives R > 0 and a constant C > 0 (depending only on M and \tilde{M}) such that for all y in some neighborhood of ∂M in M and $0 < \sigma < \rho < R$,

$$\frac{\|V\|(B_{\sigma}(y))}{\sigma^2} \le C \frac{\|V\|(B_{\rho}(y))}{\rho^2}.$$

We can assume that *R* is small enough so that Lemma 8.4 is satisfied. Choose $\rho < r(x)/2$ so that $4\rho < R$ is smaller than the convexity radius of \tilde{M} . Since $2\rho < r(x)$, there is a replacement $V' \in \mathcal{V}(M)$ for *V* in the annulus An $(x, \rho, 2\rho)$. First of all, $V' \neq 0$ on An $(x, \rho, 2\rho)$. Otherwise, since V = V' in $B_{\rho}(x)$, we have $x \in \text{supp}(||V'||)$ and there would be a $\sigma \leq \rho$ such that V' touches $\partial B_{\sigma}(x)$ from the interior, i.e., $\sigma = \max_{y \in \text{supp}(||V'||)} d(y, x)$. This would contradict Lemma 8.4. Therefore V' is a nonempty smooth surface in An $(x, \rho, 2\rho)$ that meets ∂M orthogonally, and so there is some $y \in \text{An}(x, \rho, 2\rho) \setminus \partial M$ with $\theta(V', y) \geq 1$. By the monotonicity formula and since $y \notin \partial M$,

$$\frac{\|V\|(B_{4\rho}(x))}{16\rho^2} = \frac{\|V'\|(B_{4\rho}(x))}{16\rho^2} \ge \frac{\|V'\|(B_{2\rho}(y))}{16\rho^2} \ge \frac{\pi}{4C}$$

For $x \in \text{supp}(||V||) \cap \text{int}(M) \cap U$, the usual monotonicity formula for a stationary varifold gives a similar lower bound. Hence, $\theta(x, V)$ is bounded uniformly from below on supp(||V||). Applying the rectifiability theorem, we conclude that V is rectifiable.

The interior case was handled in [5], and we know that V is integer rectifiable. So it remains to prove the free boundary case in the proposition. Fix $x \in \operatorname{supp}(||V||) \cap (\partial M \cap U)$ and a sequence $\rho_n \downarrow 0$ such that $V_{\rho_n}^x$ converges weakly to a tangent cone $C \in TV(x, V)$ that is stationary with respect to all variations tangential to $T_x \partial M$. By a change of coordinate, we can assume that $T_x \partial M$ has an inward-pointing normal (0, 0, 1). We will show that C is an integer multiple of a half-plane H. Since C is freely stationary, H must be orthogonal to $T_x \partial M$ and hence contain (0, 0, 1).

First, we place V by V'_n in the annulus $\operatorname{An}(x, \rho_n/4, 3\rho_n/4)$ and set $W'_n = (T^x_{\rho_n})_{\sharp}V'_n$. After possibly passing to a subsequence, we can assume that $W'_n \to C'$ weakly, where C' is a stationary varifold with respect to tangential variations. By the definition of replacements, we have

$$C' = C \quad \text{in } \mathcal{B}_{1/4} \cup \operatorname{An}(0, \frac{3}{4}, 1),$$

and

(8.1)
$$||C'||(\mathcal{B}_{\rho}) = ||C||(\mathcal{B}_{\rho}) \text{ for } \rho \in (0, \frac{1}{4}) \cup (\frac{3}{4}, 1),$$

where \mathcal{B}_s is the ball with radius *s* in \mathbb{R}^3 centered at the origin. Since *C* is a cone, using (8.1), we have

$$\frac{\|C'\|(\mathcal{B}_{\sigma})}{\sigma^2} = \frac{\|C'\|(\mathcal{B}_{\rho})}{\rho^2} \quad \text{for all } \sigma, \rho \in (0, \frac{1}{4}) \cup (\frac{3}{4}, 1).$$

Hence the stationarity of C' and the monotonicity formula imply that C' is also a cone. By Lemma 3.5, W'_n converges to a stable, properly embedded minimal surface in An(x, 1/4, 3/4) with respect to variation fields in χ_{tan} . This means that $C'_{\perp}An(x, 1/4, 3/4)$ is an embedded minimal cone in the classical sense and hence is supported on a half-disk containing the origin. The minimal cone is not the *xy*-plane since each W'_n meets ∂M orthogonally. This forces C' and C to coincide and be an integer multiple of the same half-plane perpendicular to $T_x \partial M$.

We now give the proof of the main result (Theorem 8.3) in this section.

PROOF OF THEOREM 8.3. Again, the interior regularity is covered in section 6 of [5], so we only prove the free boundary regularity. Fix $x \in \operatorname{supp}(||V||) \cap \partial M \cap U$. Choose ρ small such that $\rho < r(x)/2$ and 2ρ is less than R given in Lemma 8.4 and the convexity radius of \tilde{M} , by the good replacement property (a) in Definition 8.2, we can find a replacement V' for V in the annulus $\operatorname{An}(x, \rho, 2\rho)$. Let Σ' be the stable minimal surface given by V' in $\operatorname{An}(x, \rho, 2\rho)$. For any $t \in (\rho, 2\rho)$ and $s \in (0, \rho)$; by the good replacement property (b)(i) in Definition 8.2, we can find a replacement V'' of V' in $\operatorname{An}(x, s, t)$. Let Σ'' be the stable minimal surface given by V'' in $\operatorname{An}(x, s, t)$.

First, we choose some $t \in (\rho, 2\rho)$ such that Σ' intersects $\partial B_t(x)$ transversally. Such a *t* exists because Σ' is a smooth surface in the annulus $\operatorname{An}(x, \rho, 2\rho)$. Next, we show that $\Sigma' \cap \operatorname{An}(x, t, 2\rho)$ can be glued to $\Sigma'' \subset \operatorname{An}(x, s, t)$ smoothly. It has already been shown that they glue together smoothly in the interior in [5], so it suffices to show that they also glue together smoothly along the free boundary.

Fix a point $y \in \Sigma' \cap \partial B_t(x) \cap \partial M$ and a sufficiently small radius r so that $\Sigma' \cap B_r(y)$ is a half-disk orthogonal to ∂M and $\gamma = \Sigma' \cap \partial B_t(x) \cap B_r(y)$ is a smooth arc perpendicular to ∂M . As in [5], we can assume, without loss of generality, that $B_r(y)$ is the unit ball \mathcal{B} in \mathbb{R}^3 centered at origin, $\partial M \cap B_r(y) = \{z_2 = 0\} \cap \mathcal{B}, M \cap B_r(y) = \{z_2 \ge 0\} \cap \mathcal{B}$. Moreover, $\partial B_t(x) \cap B_r(y) = \{z_1 = 0\} \cap \mathcal{B}$. Suppose $\Sigma' \cap B_r(y)$ is the graph of a smooth function $g(z_1, z_2)$ defined on $\{z_2 \ge 0, z_3 = 0\} \cap \mathcal{B}$. Hence, $\gamma = \{(0, z_2, g(0, z_2) : z_2 \ge 0\}$.

The replacement V'' consists of $\Sigma'' \cup (\Sigma' \setminus B_t(x))$ in $B_r(y)$. By Proposition 8.6, using the fact that V'' satisfies (c) in Definition 8.2, T(y, V'') consists of a family of (integer multiples) of half-planes orthogonal to $\{z_1 = 0\} \cap \mathcal{B}$ (in other words, they contain the vector (0, 1, 0)). Since Σ' is regular and transversal to $\{z_1 = 0\}$, each half-plane $P \in T(y, V'')$ coincides with the half-plane $T_y \Sigma'$ in $\{z_1 < 0\}$. Therefore, $T(y, V'') = \{T_y \Sigma'\}$. Now, following the argument in [5], we obtain a function $g''(z_1, z_2) \in C^1(\{z_1 \ge 0, z_2 \ge 0\})$ such that

$$\Sigma'' \cap B_r(y) = \{(z_1, z_2, g''(z_1, z_2)) : z_1 > 0, z_2 \ge 0\},\$$

$$g''(0, z_2) = g'(0, z_2) \text{ and } \nabla g''(0, z_2) = \nabla g'(0, z_2) \text{ for all } z_2 \ge 0.$$

Since Σ' and Σ'' meet ∂M orthogonally, we have the free boundary condition $\nabla g'(z_1, 0) = (0, 0)$ for all $z_1 \leq 0$ and $\nabla g''(z_1, 0) = (0, 0)$ for all $z_1 > 0$. By the reflection principle, one obtains a continuous function *G* defined on the unit disk $\mathcal{D} = \{z_3 = 0\} \cap \mathcal{B}$ such that *G* is smooth and satisfies the minimal surface equation on the punctured disk $\mathcal{D} \setminus 0$. Hence by standard interior regularity for second-order uniformly elliptic PDEs, *G* is smooth across the origin.

By the maximum principle Lemma 8.4, we have shown that for any $s < \rho$, Σ' can be extended to a surface Σ_s in An $(x, s, 2\rho)$ such that if $s_1 < s_2 < \rho$, then $\Sigma_{s_1} = \Sigma_{s_2}$ in An $(x, s_2, 2\rho)$. Thus, $\Sigma = \bigcup_{0 < s < \rho} \Sigma_s$ is a stable minimal surface with free boundary on ∂M and $\overline{\Sigma} \setminus \Sigma \subset \partial B_{2\rho}(x) \cup \partial M \cup \{x\}$.

Next, we show that V coincides with Σ in $B_{\rho}(x) \setminus \{x\}$. Recall that V = V' in $B_{\rho}(x)$. Fix any $y \in \text{supp}(||V||) \cap B_{\rho}(x) \setminus \{x\}$ and set s = d(x, y). Since Σ meets ∂M orthogonally, $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma \cap \partial M) = 0$, so we can assume $y \in \text{int}(M)$ and T(y, V) consists of a multiple of a plane π transversal to $\partial B_s(x)$ (by Lemma 8.5), then we know that $y \in \Sigma$ as in [5]. Therefore, (2) in the definition of replacement implies that $V = \Sigma$ on $B_{\rho}(x)$.

It remains to show that x is a removable singularity for Σ . By Proposition 8.6, every $C \in T(x, V)$ is a multiple of a half-plane orthogonal to $T_x \partial M$. Following [5], for ρ sufficiently small, there exists natural numbers $N(\rho)$ and $m_i(\rho)$ such that

$$\Sigma \cap \operatorname{An}(x, \rho/2, \rho) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{N(\rho)} m_i(\rho) \Sigma_{\rho}^i$$

where each Σ_{ρ}^{i} is a Lipschitz graph over a planar half-annulus, with the Lipschitz constants uniformly bounded independently of ρ . Hence we get N minimal punctured half-disks Σ^{i} with

$$\Sigma \cap B_{\rho}(x) \setminus \{x\} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} m_i \Sigma^i.$$

By Allard regularity for stationary varifolds with free boundary [14], we see that x is a removable singularity for each Σ^i . Finally, by the Hopf boundary lemma for uniformly elliptic second order PDE, N must be 1. This completes the proof of Theorem 8.3.

To finish the proof of Proposition 4.11, it remains to construct replacements for limits of outer almost minimizing min-max sequences. Let V be as in Proposition 4.10 and fix an annulus $An \in A_{r(x)}(x)$. Set

$$\Im\mathfrak{s}_{j}(,An) = \left\{ \{\varphi_{s}\} \in \Im\mathfrak{s}_{out}(An) : \mathcal{H}^{2}(\varphi_{s}(\Sigma^{j}) \cap M) \leq \\ \mathcal{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{j} \cap M) + \frac{1}{8j} \quad \forall s \in [0,1] \right\}$$

LEMMA 8.7. For each j, suppose we have a minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma^{j,k}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ for the problem $(\Sigma^j, \Im \mathfrak{s}_j(An))$ that converges weakly to a varifold V^j .

Then V_j is a stable minimal surface in An with free boundary on ∂M . Moreover, any V^* that is the limit of a subsequence of $\{V^j\}$ is a replacement for V (in the sense of Definition 8.1).

PROOF. The proof of the second assertion is exactly like that in proposition 7.5 in [5], so we only prove the first assertion here. Without loss of generality, we

assume that j = 1, and we write V', Σ^k , and Σ in place of V^j , $\Sigma^{j,k}$, and Σ^j , respectively. Clearly V' is stationary and stable in An by its minimizing property. Thus, we only need to prove regularity. The proof follows exactly as in [5] except that we are using Lemma 3.5, Theorem 7.3, and the following result (see lemma 7.6 in [5]), which can be proved by a rescaling argument as in [5]:

Fact: Let $x \in An$, and assume that $\{\Sigma^k\}$ is minimizing for the problem $(\Sigma, \Im \mathfrak{s}_1(An))$. Then, there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that for k sufficiently large, the following holds:

(Cl) For any $\{\varphi_s\} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(B_{\epsilon}(x))$ with $\mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_1(\Sigma^k) \cap M) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma^k \cap M)$, there exists another isotopy $\{\phi_s\} \in \Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}(B_{\epsilon}(x))$ such that $\varphi_1 = \phi_1$ and

$$\mathcal{H}^2(\phi_s(\Sigma^k) \cap M) \le \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma^k \cap M) + \frac{1}{8} \quad \text{for all } s \in [0, 1].$$

Moreover, ϵ can be chosen so that (Cl) holds for any sequence $\{\tilde{\Sigma}^k\}$ that is minimizing for the problem $(\Sigma, \Im \mathfrak{s}_1(An))$ and with $\Sigma^j = \tilde{\Sigma}^j$ on $\tilde{M} \setminus \overline{B}_{\epsilon}(x)$. \Box

We end this section with a proof of Proposition 4.11.

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 4.11. We will apply Theorem 8.3. From Lemma 8.7 above, we know that in every annulus $An \in \mathcal{A}_{r(x)}(x)$ there is a replacement V^* for V. We need to show that V satisfies (a), (b), and (c) in Definition 8.2 with $r = r_1$.

9 Genus Bound

In this section, we observe that a result in De Lellis–Pellandini [8] which controls the topological type of the minimal surface constructed by min-max arguments continue to hold in the case of free boundary. (We will assume that all surfaces in a sweepout is orientable as in De Lellis–Pellandini [8].) The proof is exactly the same as in De Lellis–Pellandini [8]. One only has to note that a compact smooth surface Γ has genus g if and only if the image of the map $r : H_1(\Gamma; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1(\Gamma, \partial \Gamma; \mathbb{Z})$ is \mathbb{Z}^{2g} when Γ is orientable, or the image is $\mathbb{Z}^{g-1} \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ if Γ is nonorientable. The lifting lemma (proposition 2.1 in De Lellis– Pellandini [8]) is still valid and hence the proof goes through.

THEOREM 9.1. Let $\Sigma^j = \Sigma^j_{t_j} \cap M$ be a sequence that is almost minimizing in sufficiently small annuli that intersect ∂M transversally for all j, and let V be the varifold limit of Σ^j as $j \to \infty$. Write $V = \sum_{i=1}^N n_i \Gamma^i$ where Γ^i are connected components of Σ , counted without multiplicity, and n_i are positive. Let \mathcal{O} be the set of those Γ^i that are orientable and \mathcal{N} be those that are nonorientable. Then

(9.1)
$$\sum_{\Gamma^{i} \in \mathcal{O}} \mathfrak{g}(\Gamma^{i}) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\Gamma^{i} \in \mathcal{N}} (\mathfrak{g}(\Gamma^{i}) - 1) \leq \mathfrak{g}_{0} = \liminf_{j \uparrow \infty} \liminf_{\tau \to t_{j}} \mathfrak{g}(\Sigma_{\tau}^{j}),$$

where $\mathfrak{g}(\Gamma)$ denotes the genus of a smooth compact surface Γ (possibly with boundary). M. LI

On the other hand, we note that it is impossible to get a similar bound on the connectivity (i.e., number of free boundary components) of the minimal surface. Corollary 1.3 is then a direct consequence of Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 9.1. Note that there is no closed minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^3 .

COROLLARY 9.2. Any smooth compact domain in \mathbb{R}^3 contains a nontrivial properly embedded minimal surface Σ with nonempty boundary that is a free boundary solution and such that

- (i) either Σ is an orientable genus zero surface, i.e., a disk with holes, or
- (ii) Σ is a nonorientable genus one surface, i.e., a Möbius band with holes.

This follows from the observation that any such domain can be swept out by surfaces with genus zero. In fact, we can generalize the result to an arbitrary 3-manifold. Recall that for any orientable closed 3-manifold M, the *Heegaard genus* of M is the smallest integer g such that $M = \Sigma_1 \cup \Sigma_2$, where $\Sigma_1 \cap \Sigma_2$ is an orientable surface of genus g and each Σ_i , i = 1, 2, is a handlebody of genus g. For manifolds with boundary, we make the following definition:

DEFINITION 9.3. Let M be a compact 3-manifold with boundary. We define the *filling genus* of M to be the smallest integer g such that there exists a smooth embedding of M into a closed orientable 3-manifold \tilde{M} with Heegaard genus g.

Since any closed 3-manifold with Heegaard genus g has a nontrivial sweepout by surfaces with genus at most g. The min-max construction on the saturation of such a sweepout together with the genus bound (Theorem 9.1) above give Theorem 1.2 as a corollary.

COROLLARY 9.4 (Theorem 1.2). Any smooth compact orientable 3-manifold M with boundary ∂M with filling genus g contains a nonempty, properly embedded smooth minimal surface Σ with free boundary, and the genus of Σ is at most g if it is orientable and at most 2g + 1 if it is not orientable.

Appendix A Proof of Lemma 3.1

We now present a proof of Lemma 3.1.

PROOF. Since V_i is a weakly convergent sequence, $||V_i||(\tilde{M})$ is bounded. Hence $||V_i \sqcup_M||(\tilde{M})$ is also bounded. After passing to a subsequence (we use the same index *i* for our convenience), $V_i \sqcup_M$ converges weakly to some $W \in \mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$. Since $\mathcal{V}(M)$ is closed in $\mathcal{V}(\tilde{M})$, we have $W \in \mathcal{V}(M)$. We will show that $W = V \sqcup_M$. This clearly proves our lemma, since any subsequence of $V_i \sqcup_M$ has another subsequence converging weakly to $V \sqcup_M$.

First, we claim that $W \leq V_{\lfloor M}$, i.e., $W(f) \leq V_{\lfloor M}(f)$ for any nonnegative continuous function f on $G(\tilde{M})$. Since G(M) is a closed subset of $G(\tilde{M})$, there exists a decreasing sequence of continuous functions ϕ_k on $G(\tilde{M})$ with $0 \leq \phi_k$

 $\leq 1, \phi_k = 1$ on G(M), and ϕ_k converges pointwise to the characteristic function $\chi_{G(M)}$ of G(M). As V_i converges weakly to V in \widetilde{M} , we have for each k,

(A.1)
$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \int_{G(\tilde{M})} \phi_k f \, dV_i = \int_{G(\tilde{M})} \phi_k f \, dV.$$

Since ϕ_k and f are nonnegative, for each i and k,

(A.2)
$$\int_{G(\tilde{M})} \phi_k f \, dV_i \sqcup_M \leq \int_{G(\tilde{M})} \phi_k f \, dV_i.$$

Holding k fixed and taking $i \to \infty$ in (A.2), by (A.1), we have

$$\int_{G(\widetilde{M})} \phi_k f \, dW \leq \int_{G(\widetilde{M})} \phi_k f \, dV$$

Since *W* is supported in *M* and $\phi_k = 1$ on *M* for each *k*, we get

$$W(f) = \int_{G(M)} f \, dW = \int_{G(\widetilde{M})} \phi_k f \, dW \le \int_{G(\widetilde{M})} \phi_k f \, dV.$$

Now, since $\phi_k f$ converges pointwise to $\chi_{G(M)} f$ monotonically, by the monotone convergence theorem

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{G(\tilde{M})} \phi_k f \, dV = \int_{G(\tilde{M})} \chi_M f \, dV = \int_{G(M)} f \, dV = V_{\sqcup M}(f).$$

This proves our claim that $W \leq V {\scriptstyle \sqcup}_M$.

Now, we want to show that $W = V_{\perp M}$. Since we already have the inequality $W \leq V_{\perp M}$, it suffices to show that $||W||(M) = ||V_{\perp M}||(M)$. It follows from the assumption that $||V_i||(M)$ converges to ||V||(M) as $i \to \infty$ that

$$||W||(M) = \lim_{i \to \infty} ||V_{i \sqcup M}||(M) = \lim_{i \to \infty} ||V_{i}||(M) = ||V||(M) = ||V \sqcup M||(M).$$

Therefore, the proof of Lemma 3.1 is complete.

Appendix B The Perturbation Lemma

We prove the technical perturbation lemma (Lemma 4.9) in this appendix. First, we prove a lemma which says that if we use a "small" isotopy to deform a surface, its area would not increase by too much.

LEMMA B.1. Let $V \in \mathcal{V}(\widetilde{M})$ be a varifold in \widetilde{M} . Suppose we have a smooth vector field $X \in \chi_{out}$, and let $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]}$ be the outward isotopy in $\Im \mathfrak{s}_{out}$ generated by X. Then

$$\|(\varphi_1)_{\sharp}V\|(M) \le \|V\|(M) e^{\|X\|_{C^1}}$$

Here $||X||_{C^1}$ denotes the C^1 -norm of the vector field X as a smooth map X : $\widetilde{M} \to T\widetilde{M}$.

PROOF. By the first variation formula of area in \tilde{M} ,

$$|\delta V(X)| \le \left| \int_{G(\widetilde{M})} \operatorname{div}_{\pi} X(x) dV(x,\pi) \right| \le \|V\|(\widetilde{M})\|X\|_{C^{1,1}}$$

Hence, if we let $f(s) = \|(\varphi_s)_{\sharp}V\|(\widetilde{M})$, then the inequality above is equivalent to

$$|f'(s)| \le f(s) ||X||_{C^1}$$

Integrating s from 0 to 1, we get $f(1) \leq f(0) e^{||X||} c^1$. In other words,

$$\|(\varphi_1)_{\sharp}V\|(\widetilde{M}) \le \|V\|(\widetilde{M}) e^{\|X\|_{C^1}}$$

Now, using this and the assumption that X is an outward vector field,

$$\|(\varphi_1)_{\sharp}V\|(M) \le \|(\varphi_1)_{\sharp}(V_{\lfloor M})\|(\tilde{M}) \le \|V_{\lfloor M}\|(\tilde{M})e^{\|X\|_{C^1}} = \|V\|(M) e^{\|X\|_{C^1}},$$

where the first inequality holds because $\|(\varphi_1)_{\sharp}V\|(M) = \|(\varphi_1)_{\sharp}(V \sqcup M)\|(M)$. This proves Lemma B.1.

We are now ready to prove the perturbation lemma.

LEMMA B.2. Given any sweepout $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t \in [0,1]} \in \Lambda$ and any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a continuous sweepout $\{\Sigma'_t\}_{t \in [0,1]} \in \Lambda$ such that

$$\mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_t'\}) \le \mathcal{F}(\{\Sigma_t\}) + \epsilon.$$

PROOF. By 2.6.2(d) of Allard [1] and Lemma 3.1 in this paper, it suffices to construct $\{\Sigma'_t\}$ such that

(B.1)
$$\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma'_t \cap \partial M) = 0$$

for all $t \in [0, 1]$. This would imply that $\{\Sigma'_t\}$ is a continuous sweepout. One might hope to perturb Σ_t using an outward isotopy so that it is transversal to ∂M for all t. However, it is impossible, in general, to find a *smooth* family of outward isotopies such that all the perturbed surfaces are transversal to ∂M . On the other hand, we could find one so that all but finitely many Σ_t are transversal to the boundary ∂M after perturbation, and for those finitely many exceptions, there are only finitely many points at which the perturbed Σ_t meets the boundary ∂M nontransversally. This would certainly imply (B.1).

For $\theta > 0$ sufficiently small (to be chosen later), the signed distance function $d = d(\cdot, \partial M)$ is a smooth function on the open tubular neighborhood $U_{\theta}(\partial M) = \{x \in \tilde{M} : |d(x, \partial M)| < \theta\}$ of ∂M . (We take *d* to be nonnegative for points in *M*.) Let *v* be the inward-pointing unit normal to ∂M with respect to *M* (this is globally

defined on ∂M even when M is not orientable). For $\theta > 0$ small enough, we have a diffeomorphism

$$g(x,s) = \exp_x(sv(x)) : \partial M \times (-\theta,\theta) \to U_{\theta}(\partial M)$$

We will need the following *parametric Morse theorem*: If $f_t : N \to \mathbb{R}$ is a one-parameter family of smooth functions on a compact (possibly with boundary) manifold N with $t \in [0, 1]$, and f_0 , f_1 are Morse functions, then there exists a smooth one-parameter family $F_t : N \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $F_0 = f_0$, $F_1 = f_1$, and F is uniformly close to f in the C^k -topology on functions $N \times [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$. Furthermore, F_t is Morse at all but finitely many t; at a non-Morse time, the function has only one degenerate critical point, corresponding to the birth/death transition.

The relationship between Morse functions and transversality can be seen as follows. Let Σ be a closed surface in \tilde{M} . Consider the function d restricted on $\Sigma \cap U_{\theta}(\partial M)$. If $d : \Sigma \cap U_{\theta}(\partial M) \to \mathbb{R}$ is a Morse function, then Σ intersects the level sets $\{x \in M : d = c\}$ transversally except possibly at the critical points of d, which comprise only a finite set. In particular, we have $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma \cap \partial M) = 0$. If d is not a Morse function, we approximate it by a Morse function d_{ϕ} in the C^k norm in $\Sigma \cap U_{\theta}(\partial M)$. Without loss of generality, we can also assume that $d_{\phi} \leq d$ everywhere.

Let $\phi \leq 0$ be a smooth extension of the function $d_{\phi} - d$ to $U_{\theta}(\partial M)$ (by Whitney's extension theorem) in such a way that $\|\phi\|_{C^k}$ is very small. Then, if we consider the outward vector field

$$X(x) = \chi(x)\phi(x)\nabla d(x)$$

where $0 \le \chi \le 1$ is a smooth cutoff function on \widetilde{M} such that $\chi = 1$ on $U_{\theta/2}(\partial M)$, $\chi = 0$ outside $U_{\theta}(\partial M)$, and $|\nabla \chi| \le 4/\theta$. Let $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]}$ be the outward isotopy generated by X. Then it is clear that $\mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_1(\Sigma) \cap \partial M) = 0$ according to the discussion above.

The perturbation can be carried out for each Σ_t in the sweepout. Hence we want to choose $\phi_t \leq 0$ on $U_{\theta}(\partial M)$ that are small in the C^k -norm such that, after perturbation, Σ_t intersects the boundary ∂M at a set of \mathcal{H}^2 -measure zero. The only complication is that we have to choose ϕ_t that depends smoothly on t. This is where we need the parametric Morse theorem.

By Lemma B.1, for every C > 0 and $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta = \delta(C, \epsilon) > 0$ sufficiently small (for example, take $\delta < \ln(1 + \epsilon/2C)$) such that whenever $||X||_{C^1} < \delta$,

(B.2)
$$\|(\varphi_1)_{\sharp}V\|(M) \le \|V\|(M) + \frac{\epsilon}{2}$$

for all $V \in \mathcal{V}(\widetilde{M})$ with $||V||(M) \leq C$.

Fix a sweepout $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t\in[0,1]} \in \Lambda$ and $\epsilon > 0$ as in the hypothesis, since $\{\Sigma_t\}$ is a continuous family of varifolds in \widetilde{M} ; there exists a constant C > 0 such that $\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t \cap M) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t) \leq C$ for all $t \in [0,1]$. For this ϵ and C, choose $\delta > 0$ so that (B.2) holds. Moreover, assume $\theta > 0$ is always sufficiently small so that *d* is a smooth function on $U_{\theta}(\partial M)$ and *g* is a diffeomorphism.

Now, we would like to apply the parametric Morse theorem to the family of smooth functions $d_t : \Sigma_t \cap \overline{U}_{\theta}(\partial M) \to \mathbb{R}$. However, there is a little technical difficulty because $\Sigma_t \cap \overline{U}_{\theta}(\partial M)$ are not all diffeomorphic to each other. Recall that in the definition of a sweepout, we have two finite sets, $T \subset [0, 1]$ and $P \subset \widetilde{M}$, at which singularities occur. First of all, we argue that we can assume $P \cap \overline{U}_{\theta}(\partial M) = \emptyset$.

Suppose $P \cap \partial M \neq \emptyset$. Since P is just a finite set, there exists $0 < \rho < \theta/2$ such that $\partial M_{\rho} \cap P = \emptyset$. Define an outward vector field $X \in C_{out}^{\infty}(\tilde{M}, T\tilde{M})$ by

$$X(x) = -\rho\chi(x)\nabla d(x),$$

where $0 \le \chi \le 1$ is a smooth cutoff function on \widetilde{M} such that $\chi = 1$ on $U_{\rho}(\partial M)$, $\chi = 0$ outside $U_{\theta}(\partial M)$, and $|\nabla \chi| \le 4/\theta$. Let K > 0 be a constant (independent of θ) so that $|\nabla^2 d| \le K$ on $\overline{U}_{\theta}(\partial M)$. Hence, for $\rho > 0$ sufficiently small (depending on θ and K), we can make $||X||_{C^1} < \delta$. Let $\{\varphi_s\}_{s \in [0,1]}$ be the isotopy generated by X; then by (B.2),

$$\mathcal{H}^2(\varphi_1(\Sigma_t) \cap M) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t \cap M) + \frac{\epsilon}{2}.$$

Moreover, $\varphi_1(\partial M_\rho) = \partial M$. Therefore, replacing $\{\Sigma_t\}$ by $\{\varphi_1(\Sigma_t)\}$ if necessary, we can assume that $P \cap \partial M = \emptyset$.

As *P* is a finite set, we can further assume that θ is small enough so that $P \cap \overline{U}_{\theta}(\partial M) = \emptyset$. By the definition of a sweepout, there exists a partition $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_k = 1$ of the interval [0, 1] such that on each subinterval $[t_{i-1}, t_i]$, $i = 1, \ldots, k$, there exists an open neighborhood U_i of ∂M contained in $U_{\theta}(\partial M)$ such that $\Sigma_t \cap U_i$ are all diffeomorphic for $t \in [t_{i-1}, t_i]$.

Now, for any $\delta' > 0$ (to be specified later), since Morse functions are dense in the C^k -topology, for each i = 0, 1, ..., k, we can approximate the smooth function $d_{t_i} : \Sigma_{t_i} \cap U_i \to \mathbb{R}$ by a Morse function $\hat{d}_{t_i} : \Sigma_{t_i} \cap U_i \to \mathbb{R}$, with $\hat{d}_{t_i} \leq d_{t_i}$ and $\|d_{t_i} - \hat{d}_{t_i}\|_{C^1} < \delta'$. Let $\phi_{t_i} \leq 0$ be a smooth extension of $\hat{d}_{t_i} - d_{t_i}$ to U_i such that $\|\phi_{t_i}\|_{C^1} \leq \delta'$ for all i. Using the parametric Morse theorem, we can construct a smooth family of smooth functions $\phi_t \leq 0$ on $U_i, t \in [t_{i-1}, t_i]$, such that $d_t + \phi_t$ is a Morse function on $\Sigma_t \cap U_i$ except for finitely many t's where there is only one degenerate critical point. We can also assume that ϕ_t is uniformly small in the C^1 -norm on $U_{\theta}(\partial M)$.

Putting these intervals together, we have a piecewise smooth one-parameter family of smooth functions ϕ_t , defined on U for some neighborhood U of ∂M , such that $d_t + \phi_t$ are Morse except at finitely many times. Since Morse functions form an open set in the space of all smooth functions in the C^{∞} -topology and the family is Morse at each t_i , we can smooth out the family, keeping it Morse except finitely many times away from the t_i 's. Assume θ is chosen small enough such that $U_{\theta}(\partial M) \subset U$. In summary, we have a smooth one-parameter family of smooth nonpositive functions $\{\phi_t\}$ on U such that $\|\phi_t\|_{C^1} < \delta'$. For each $t \in [0, 1]$, let $\{\varphi_t(s)\}_{s \in [0, 1]}$ be the outward isotopy generated by the outward vector field $X_t \in C_{\text{out}}^{\infty}(\tilde{M}, T\tilde{M})$ defined as

$$X_t(x) = \phi_t(x)\chi(x)\nabla d(x),$$

where $0 \le \chi \le 1$ is a smooth cutoff function on \tilde{M} so that $\chi = 1$ on $U_{\theta/2}(\partial M)$, $\chi = 0$ outside $U_{\theta}(\partial M)$, and $|\nabla \chi| \le 2/\theta$. Let $\{\varphi_t(s)\}_{s \in [0,1]}$ be the isotopy in $\Im \mathfrak{s}^{\text{out}}$ generated by X_t . Take $\Sigma'_t = \varphi_t(1)(\Sigma_t)$; then $\{\Sigma'_t\} \in \Lambda$. We claim that $\{\Sigma'_t\}$ is the competitor we want.

First of all, by choosing $\delta' > 0$ sufficiently small, we can make $||X_t||_{C^1} < \delta$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$. Hence, we have from (B.2) that

$$\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma'_t \cap M) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma_t \cap M) + \frac{\epsilon}{2}.$$

Moreover, since $d : \Sigma'_t \cap U_\theta(\partial M) \to \mathbb{R}$ agrees with $d_t + \phi_t$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$, by our construction, we have that $\Sigma'_t \cap \partial M$ consists of at most finitely many points for all $t \in [0, 1]$. Therefore, we have

$$\mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma'_t \cap \partial M) = 0.$$

This completes the proof of Lemma B.2.

Acknowledgment. The results in this paper form part of the author's doctoral dissertation [22] at Stanford University. The author would like to express his sincere gratitude to his advisor Prof. Richard Schoen for suggesting this interesting problem and providing lots of useful advice and support throughout the progress of this work. The author would also like to thank Prof. Brian White for many helpful comments and discussions. The author is indebted to Prof. Leon Simon, from whom he learned a lot of geometric measure theory used in this paper.

Bibliography

- [1] Allard, W. K. On the first variation of a varifold. Ann. of Math. (2) 95 (1972), 417–491. doi:10.2307/1970868
- [2] Almgren, F. J., Jr. The theory of varifolds. Mimeographed notes. Princeton University, 1965.
- [3] Almgren, F. J., Jr.; Simon, L. Existence of embedded solutions of Plateau's problem. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 6 (1979), no. 3, 447–495.
- [4] Birkhoff, G. D. Dynamical systems with two degrees of freedom. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 18 (1917), no. 2, 199–300. doi:10.2307/1988861
- [5] Colding, T. H.; De Lellis, C. The min-max construction of minimal surfaces. *Surveys in differential geometry, Vol. VIII (Boston, MA, 2002)*, 75–107. Surveys in Differential Geometry, VIII. International Press, Somerville, Mass., 2003.
- [6] Colding, T. H.; Minicozzi, W. P., II A course in minimal surfaces. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 121. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 2011.
- [7] Courant, R. The existence of minimal surfaces of given topological structure under prescribed boundary conditions. *Acta Math.* 72 (1940), 51–98. doi:10.1007/BF02546328

- [8] De Lellis, C.; Pellandini, F. Genus bounds for minimal surfaces arising from min-max constructions. J. Reine Angew. Math. 644 (2010), 47–99. doi:10.1515/CRELLE.2010.052
- [9] Dierkes, U.; Hildebrandt, S.; Sauvigny, F. *Minimal surfaces*. Revised and enlarged second edition. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 339. Springer, Heidelberg, 2010.
- [10] Dierkes, U.; Hildebrandt, S.; Tromba, A. J. *Regularity of minimal surfaces*. Revised and enlarged second edition. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 340. Springer, Heidelberg, 2010.
- [11] Fraser, A. M. On the free boundary variational problem for minimal disks. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **53** (2000), no. 8, 931–971. doi:10.1002/1097-0312(200008)53:8<931::AID-CPA1>3.0.CO;2-9
- [12] Fraser, A. M. Minimal disks and two-convex hypersurfaces. Amer. J. Math. 124 (2002), no. 3, 483–493.
- [13] Goldhorn, K.; Hildebrandt, S. Zum Randverhalten der Lösungen gewisser zweidimensionaler Variationsprobleme mit freien Randbedingungen. *Math. Z.* 118 (1970), 241–253. doi:10.1007/BF01109861
- [14] Grüter, M.; Jost, J. Allard type regularity results for varifolds with free boundaries. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 13 (1986), no. 1, 129–169.
- [15] Grüter, M.; Jost, J. On embedded minimal disks in convex bodies. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 3 (1986), no. 5, 345–390.
- [16] Hildebrandt, S. Boundary behavior of minimal surfaces. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 35 (1969), 47–82. doi:10.1007/BF00248494
- [17] Hildebrandt, S.; Nitsche, J. C. C. Minimal surfaces with free boundaries. Acta Math. 143 (1979), no. 3-4, 251–272. doi:10.1007/BF02392096
- [18] Jäger, W. Behavior of minimal surfaces with free boundaries. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 23 (1970), 803–818. doi:10.1002/cpa.3160230508
- [19] Jost, J. Existence results for embedded minimal surfaces of controlled topological type. I. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 13 (1986), no. 1, 15–50.
- [20] Jost, J. Existence results for embedded minimal surfaces of controlled topological type. II. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 13 (1986), no. 3, 401–426.
- [21] Lewy, H. On minimal surfaces with partially free boundary. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 4 (1951), no. 1, 1–13. doi:10.1002/cpa.3160040102
- [22] Li, M. C. M. On a free boundary problem for embedded minimal surfaces and instability theorems in manifolds with positive isotropic curvarure. Doctoral dissertation, Stanford University, 2011.
- [23] Lin, F.; Yang, X. Geometric measure theory—an introduction. Advanced Mathematics (Beijing/Boston), 1. Science Press Beijing, Beijing; International Press, Boston, 2002.
- [24] Meeks, W., III; Simon, L.; Yau, S. T. Embedded minimal surfaces, exotic spheres, and manifolds with positive Ricci curvature. Ann. of Math. (2) 116 (1982), no. 3, 621–659. doi:10.2307/2007026
- [25] Meeks, W. H., III; Yau, S. T. Topology of three-dimensional manifolds and the embedding problems in minimal surface theory. Ann. of Math. (2) 112 (1980), no. 3, 441–484. doi:10.2307/1971088
- [26] Meeks, W. W., III; Yau, S. T. The existence of embedded minimal surfaces and the problem of uniqueness. *Math. Z.* 179 (1982), no. 2, 151–168. doi:10.1007/BF01214308
- [27] Nitsche, J. C. C. The boundary behavior of minimal surfaces. Kellogg's theorem and Branch points on the boundary. *Invent. Math.* 8 (1969), 313–333. doi:10.1007/BF01404636
- [28] Nitsche, J. C. C. Minimal surfaces with partially free boundary. Least area property and Hölder continuity for boundaries satisfying a chord-arc condition. *Arch. Rational Mech. Anal.* 39 (1970), 131–145. doi:10.1007/BF00281043
- [29] Nitsche, J. C. C. Stationary partitioning of convex bodies. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 89 (1985), no. 1, 1–19. doi:10.1007/BF00281743

- [30] Pitts, J. T. Existence and regularity of minimal surfaces on Riemannian manifolds. Mathematical Notes, 27. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1981.
- [31] Pitts, J. T.; Rubinstein, J. H. Existence of minimal surfaces of bounded topological type in threemanifolds. *Miniconference on geometry and partial differential equations (Canberra, 1985)*, 163–176. Proceedings of the Centre for Mathematical Analysis, Australian National University, 10. Australia National University, Canberra, 1986.
- [32] Sacks, J.; Uhlenbeck, K. The existence of minimal immersions of 2-spheres. Ann. of Math. (2) 113 (1981), no. 1, 1–24. doi:10.2307/1971131
- [33] Schoen, R. Estimates for stable minimal surfaces in three-dimensional manifolds. *Seminar on minimal submanifolds*, 111–126. Annals of Mathematics Studies, 103. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1983.
- [34] Schoen, R. Minimal submanifolds in higher codimension. XIV School on Differential Geometry (Portuguese). *Mat. Contemp.* 30 (2006), 169–199.
- [35] Schoen, R.; Simon, L.; Yau, S. T. Curvature estimates for minimal hypersurfaces. *Acta Math.* 134 (1975), no. 3-4, 275–288. doi:10.1007/BF02392104
- [36] Simon, L. Lectures on geometric measure theory. Proceedings of the Centre for Mathematical Analysis, Australian National University, 3. Australian National University, Centre for Mathematical Analysis, Canberra, 1983.
- [37] Smith, F. On the existence of embedded minimal 2-spheres in the 3-sphere, endowed with an arbitrary Riemannian metric. Doctoral dissertation, University of Melbourne, 1982.
- [38] Struwe, M. On a free boundary problem for minimal surfaces. *Invent. Math.* 75 (1984), no. 3, 547–560. doi:10.1007/BF01388643
- [39] Taylor, J. E. Boundary regularity for solutions to various capillarity and free boundary problems. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations* 2 (1977), no. 4, 323–357. doi:10.1080/03605307708820033
- [40] White, B. The maximum principle for minimal varieties of arbitrary codimension. Comm. Anal. Geom. 18 (2010), no. 3, 421–432. doi:10.4310/CAG.2010.v18.n3.a1
- [41] Ye, R. On the existence of area-minimizing surfaces with free boundary. *Math. Z.* 206 (1991), no. 3, 321–331. doi:10.1007/BF02571346

MARTIN MAN-CHUN LI

Department of Mathematics Massachusetts Institute of Technology E18 - 369 77 Massachusetts Ave. Cambridge, MA 02139 USA

E-mail: martinli@math.mit.edu

Received August 2012.